

Board of Education Study Session Template

School District of Seward

410 South Street

Seward, NE 68434

Monday, July 13, 2020 5:30 PM

Attendance Taken at 5:31 PM.

Paul Duer: Present

Jill Hochstein: Present

Jana Hughes: Present

Jerry Rumery: Present

Ryne Seaman: Present

Danielle Shipley: Present

1. Preliminary Procedures

1. Call meeting to order & announce Open Meetings Act is Posted

2. Public Notice as publicized per board policy

3. Roll Call

1. Action to excuse board members if necessary

2. Possible Discussion Items

1. New and Revised Board Policy

Dr. Fields discussed the new and revised board policies.

2. Summer Project Update

Dr. Fields updated the board on summer projects. The FCS room and the bathroom project at the high school are almost complete. The fire alarm system will not be completed this summer due to device shortages. The doors at the high school are complete. The HVAC project at the elementary school is getting close to being completed and will be fired up shortly to troubleshoot.

3. School Reopening Plan for the Fall

Dr. Fields asked the board for their input on school reopening in the fall.

3. Adjournment

President Seaman adjourned the meeting at 7:00 p.m.

Please publish the following legal notice in the July 8, 2020 edition of the Seward County Independent. Thank you.

NOTICE OF SCHOOL BOARD MEETING

The board of education of the School District of Seward will meet in regular session on Monday, July 13, 2020 at 5:30 p.m. for a board study session to be followed by the 7:00 p.m. regular business meeting. The meeting will be held at the Administrative Offices located at 410 South St., Seward, Nebraska. An agenda for the meeting which shall be kept continually current is readily available for public inspection at the Superintendent's Office during normal business hours.

To view the agenda go to <http://SewardPublicSchools.org/> and find the eMeeting link.

KAREN A. HAASE
STEVE WILLIAMS
BOBBY TRUHE



COADY H. PRUETT
JORDAN JOHNSON
SHARI RUSSELL, Paralegal

M E M O R A N D U M

To: KSB Policy Service Subscribers
FROM: KSB School Law
DATE: May 29, 2020
RE: Annual Policy Updates

Attached are the (first round) 2020 KSB School Law policy updates. We have also included changes to our standard forms and updates on some other laws which do not require changes to policies but do present new obligations or things to keep in mind as you enter the 2020-21 year. We have broken these down in 3 sections: "Policy Changes;" "Forms Changes;" and "Other Issues to Consider."

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, we also know that there will be at least two additional rounds of policy updates over the next several months. We have added a section on that at the end of the memo, as well.

To assist subscribers in implementing these policy changes and the other considerations laid out in this Memo, **KSB will hold a webinar on Monday, June 1, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. Central Time.** In the webinar, we will give a brief overview of the changes and then answer questions from attendees regarding the policies and other considerations. We have included the link to the ZOOM conference in the cover e-mail that transmitted these updates. We will also record the webinar and will post it on the KSB School Law website in the Policy Updates section.

Please feel free to contact us if you have any additional questions or if you would like to have a policy customized or "tweaked" to meet your individual circumstances.

Policy Changes

REVISION OF POLICY 2002: Organization of the Board, Board Officers, Committees, and Check Signing

We have modified this policy in two ways, based on questions we continue to receive regarding who can serve in board officer positions and who can sign checks, warrants, and other instruments of the district. We have also renamed the policy to make it easier to find the different board officer duties and the board committees, including the new Committee on American Civics.

The president and vice president must be members of the board, but the secretary and treasurer, in most cases, do not need to be board members. Class III school boards may elect and appoint/employ a secretary and treasurer who are not board members, so long as it is permitted by law.

Section 79-564 lays out the simple requirements for choosing a president, vice president, and secretary:

At the first meeting of each school board or board of education elected in a Class III school district, and annually thereafter, the board shall elect from among its members a president and vice president. The board shall also elect a secretary who need not be a member of the board. If the secretary is a member of the board, an assistant secretary may be named and his or her duties and compensation set by the board.

Authority for appointing a non-board member treasurer is a bit more limited. Sections 79-589 and 79-590 state that the board may “employ” a non-board member to the treasurer position, outside of schools that fall into this exception:

In a Class III school district which lies outside of the corporate limits of any city or village or of which more than one-half is geographically within a city of the metropolitan class, *the board of education shall elect one of its members*, other than the secretary, as treasurer of the school district and the provisions of section 79-590 [that allow employment of a non-member] shall not apply to the selection of a treasurer of such a district.

You must elect a board member if your district lies outside the corporate limits of a city or village, and more than one-half of that city or village is geographically within a city of the metropolitan class.

Second, we added a section on signing checks, warrants, and other instruments, and we moved some other provisions into that section. The statutory default is that the secretary signs checks, and the president countersigns them:

The secretary of a school district shall draw and sign all orders upon the treasurer for all money to be disbursed by the district and all warrants upon the county treasurer for money raised for district purposes or apportioned to the district by the county treasurer and shall present the same to the president to be countersigned. No warrant, check, or other instrument drawn upon bank depository funds of the district shall be issued until so countersigned. No warrant, check, or other instrument drawn upon bank depository funds of the district shall be countersigned by the president until the amount for which it is drawn is written upon its face. *Facsimile signatures of board members may be used, and a person or persons delegated by the board may sign and validate all warrants, checks, and other instruments drawn upon bank depository funds of the district.*

The statute specifically authorizes the board to “delegate” another “person or persons” to sign and validate any warrants, checks, or other instruments. Under Mike Foley, the State Auditor’s position in several audit letters was that the president *must* countersign. We do not necessarily agree with that assessment. The statute says more than one person can be delegated to “sign and validate.” The safest process is to have the president countersign (or use a facsimile signature for the president), though we have not seen this exact issue pop up in school audit responses in several years.

This change is required to the extent you must align your practices to the policy.

DELETION OF POLICY 3034: DISBURSEMENTS (NOW “INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK”)

By including the provisions for signing warrants, checks, and other instruments in policy 2002 along with other board duties, there is no longer a need for this policy. We have deleted it from the service, and number 3034 will read “Intentionally Left Blank” in complete policy service indexes.

This change is required.

REVISION OF POLICY 3039: Threat Assessment

When your board adopted policy 3039, you chose from three options (the team concept; the superintendent as primary investigator and decisionmaker; a school-district controlled law enforcement unit as the investigator). Regardless of the option your board selected, we have revised this policy based on the experiences several schools have had in responding to student threats over the past several years.

First, we have added a definition of what constitutes a “threat” and what we mean by “threat assessment.” We have had several districts struggle with explaining to parents how administrators distinguish between off-handed students comments which do not constitute an imminent threat from statements about harming others which need an immediate response. The new definitions are based in large part on research from the National Association of School Psychologists as well as recommendations from the Federal Commission on School Safety. Those definitions are then incorporated throughout the rest of the policy.

Second, we have made it clear that the process of threat assessment is a separate thing from student discipline and special education. The purpose of threat assessment is to predict and prevent acts of school violence. While school districts will also need to address student discipline and special education as appropriate, the revisions to this policy make it clear that those are different processes. We reiterate that distinction at the end of the section titled “Threat Assessment Investigation and Response.”

Third, schools have struggled to explain to their communities the difference between a threat which requires an immediate and urgent call to law enforcement from threats which, although serious, are appropriate to be managed in a more deliberate manner. The new paragraph under “Threat Assessment Investigation and Response” makes that distinction clear.

Finally, we have revised the section of the policy that describes the threat assessment investigation process. These edits align the policy more closely to the procedures recommended by the Nebraska Department of Education. Additionally, we have added a provision requiring the threat assessment team, school superintendent or law enforcement unit to confer with a staff member who has expertise in the IDEA and/or Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act. Students with disabilities make up a large proportion of students who make threats of school violence. We believe that this additional provision will protect the district from inadvertent violations of those laws as part of the threat assessment process.

This change is recommended.

REVISION OF POLICY 3046: Animals at Schools

We have added a provision to this policy addressing the procedure for handling requests for service animals. When a request to be accompanied by a service animal is submitted by, or on behalf of, a student who has an Individualized Education Program (IEP) and/or a Section 504 Plan, then the request shall be promptly referred to the student's respective IEP Team and/or 504 Team for its consideration and/or input. This addition is recommended so that a decision on whether to grant (or deny) a request for a service animal is considered by the IEP/504 Team, its input is provided, and (where appropriate) the IEP Team has the opportunity to decide whether the allowance of a service animal is required in order for the student to receive a Free and Appropriate Public Education (FAPE).

As before, the District has a choice as to whether it will allow therapy animals to be brought to school grounds. If the District has decided to allow such therapy animals, then these updates provide a similar provision so that requests for therapy animals made by, or on behalf of, a student with an IEP or a 504 plan are referred to the appropriate team for consideration.

This change is recommended.

NEW POLICY 3055: School Resource Officers

On and after January 1, 2021, school must have a memorandum of understanding in effect with any law enforcement agency that provides school resource officers and any security agency which provides security guards to schools in a school district. Each MOU must include policies that address:

- Required minimum training for SROs, security guards, and school district administrators.
- Maintenance of prosecution referral records.
- Notice to parents of when they will be notified or present when their student is questioned by a school official or by a school resource officer or security guard operating in conjunction with a school official.
- Under what circumstances a student will be advised of constitutional rights prior to being questioned or interrogated.

- When a student will be referred for criminal prosecution and when a student's actions will be resolved as a disciplinary matter by school officials.
- A complaint process.

We have developed this policy to ensure that every policy provision required by the new SRO statutes exists and can be incorporated into any MOU.

This new policy is required IF you have an SRO or security guard.

NEW POLICY 3056: Guest Speakers

Several school districts had rather unpleasant experiences with guest speakers during the 2019-20 school year and, at times, found themselves receiving unwarranted criticism and unwanted attention. These experiences arose, at least in part, due to a lack of procedure for vetting potential guest speakers. We drafted this policy to ensure that a process and procedure exists to research guest speakers so that everyone involved has a clear understanding of the guest speaker's purpose and message. This will help the school determine if the proposed message complies with school district policies and its fundamental values and to avoid unwanted surprises for everyone involved. New accompanying forms have also been created.

This new policy is not required but is recommended if you use or plan to use guest speakers.

REVISION OF POLICY 4003: Drug Testing of Drivers

We updated this policy to address concerns raised by the Department of Transportation's Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, when they have been conducting audits of school districts in Nebraska this spring. Under 49 CFR § 382.601, school districts must provide drivers with specific information regarding the district's drug and alcohol testing program and procedures for drivers. Until now, we know that most of our schools were providing the drivers this information in packets of informational materials, often upon hire. While this practice is entirely permissible under the regulatory language, the DOT has taken the position that this information must now be included *in the policy itself*. Lately, the DOT has begun to enforce their interpretation by issuing notice of violation to schools that did not incorporate that information into their policy. While we disagree with the DOT's position on this issue, the DOT itself will ultimately be enforcing the relevant regulations and it is most prudent to avoid the time and expense of responding to a violation by amending this policy.

This policy now discusses each category of information required by the regulations. You should review the updated language carefully, and revise it as necessary to ensure it is consistent with the terms and procedures of your district's driver drug and alcohol testing program. We know that some school districts may contract with drivers and administer testing protocols directly, while others may contract with a third party to provide one or both of those services. If you contract with a third party for either of these services, you should carefully review this policy with your provider to ensure its terms are consistent with your testing programs and protocols. You may also wish to designate an individual with that third party provider as the contact person for the drug and alcohol testing policy and program, as appropriate. As a reminder, you must also ensure you receive a signed, written statement from all drivers that they received this policy and any related materials.

This change is required.

NEW POLICY 4062: Locker Room Supervision

We have been stressing the importance of supervising locker rooms for many years at our school district presentations and inservices. Many hazing and bullying incidents occur in unsupervised or poorly supervised locker rooms. Some incidents are serious enough to result in litigation. This policy was created in response to a school's request for policy guidance in this area. It is important that the school's practice matches its policy, so this policy should be modified to fit your practice in the event you choose to adopt it.

This new policy is not required.

REVISION OF POLICY 5016: Student Records

We have updated this policy to more broadly define "school officials", ensuring the district maintains the discretion to share records with any agent, contractor, consultant, or volunteer that serves an institutional function and has a legitimate educational interest in the records.

This change is required.

REVISION OF POLICY 5035: Student Discipline

In 2019, the Unicameral amended the Student Discipline Act to add referrals to restorative justice practices or services to the list of actions that administrators and teachers may take in addition to student suspensions, expulsions, and alternative assignments. We also updated this policy to reflect the ability of the school to provide consequences to students who knowingly make a false statement or knowingly submit false information during the Title IX grievance process or any other school investigation.

This change is required.

REVISION OF POLICY 5054: Student Bullying

We have made three revisions to this policy. First, we have edited the definition of bullying slightly to make it clear that school administrators may consider both the definition contained in Nebraska law as well as the definition from the Centers for Disease Control when determining whether particular conduct constitutes bullying.

Second, we have added a section which requires students to report all bullying that they experience and/or observe. There have been lawsuits in other states where families claimed that a student suffered terribly from bullying but did not inform the school district about the situation. This makes it clear that a student is obligated to tell a teacher or administrator about bullying so that the district can take responsive action. We have also had situations where parents want to be the intermediary between a bullying victim and the administration. The revisions to the policy require that student to speak directly to a teacher or administrator. Many school districts have adopted anonymous reporting systems to report threatening or bullying behavior. If your district has such a platform, insert it into the policy where indicated. If you do not have such a system, just delete the highlighted sentence.

The third revision states that the school district does not have a special bullying investigation process, but that the staff will follow the same steps that they follow with any other student investigation. Courts that have held school districts financially liable for bullying have stated that schools may not be deliberately indifferent to student bullying. This revision adopts that standard, which is also consistent with the standard you will be required to adopt in your new Title IX policy later this summer.

This change is recommended.

REVISION OF POLICY 6020: Multicultural Education

The multicultural education section of Rule 10 requires the district to have:

- A statement of philosophy or mission;
- Local program goals;
- Curriculum guides, frameworks, or standards that incorporate multicultural education;
- A process for selecting appropriate instructional materials;
- A process for provision of staff development; and
- A process for periodic assessment of the program.

None of these items is required to be included in any school district policy. However, NDE auditors have been looking for these items in your school policy when conducting Rule 10 audits. In order to proactively address this issue, we have amended the policy to include and address each of these areas.

This revision is not required by is highly recommended.

REVISION OF POLICY 6021: 6021 District Criteria for Selecting Evaluators to be Used for Special Education Evaluation

This policy was updated to clarify that any geographic restriction on an evaluation is to be measured by miles that would be traveled by a vehicle on a road traveling from the student's school building to the evaluator. You must be mindful in setting a distance that the district cannot impose any requirements that are more restrictive than those it would impose upon itself. Consequently, you should make clear if any specific evaluations or categories of evaluations would require a larger geographical radius apply. In doing so, you should confer with your special education staff and service providers, such as your regional ESU, to determine whether any of the evaluations you would seek would require an exception to the general geographical boundary. For instance, many schools seek certain visual or related evaluations from NCBVI, which may be outside of the geographical radius that would apply to other evaluations that could be conducted by your local ESU or specialists.

We have also updated this policy to heighten the standards required for independent educational evaluations. Lately, we've seen more and more parents seeking specific evaluations from professionals whose practices or

assessments do not align with commonly accepted educational best practices. We've also seen more parents seeking evaluations from professionals that do not fully consider the student's performance in the educational setting, or collaborate with the school district to appropriately determine the student's special education and related services needs. In response, we want to make explicit many of the requirements you've long imposed upon your own evaluations and evaluators; specifically, the evaluations must consider information about the student's performance and needs from the district, must be provided to the district, and must be conducted by a professional willing to cooperate with the relevant student teams. Further, the policy will require that evaluations be sufficiently comprehensive as to be helpful to the team, and conducted in conformance with accepted standards for reliability. Finally, the policy caps reimbursement for an evaluation at the rate charged by the school district's contracted providers for the same or substantially similar violation.

This change is required.

REVISION OF POLICY 6033: Restraint and Seclusion

In light of the recent emphasis and guidance on the use of restraint and seclusion, we've overhauled our restraint and seclusion policy. This updated policy first incorporates the definitions for physical restraint, mechanical restraint, chemical restraint, and seclusion provided by the Office for Civil Rights in relation to its Civil Rights DATA Collection (CRDC). Overall, we believe these definitions are a useful and fair representation of what schools in Nebraska already recognize. This approach also provides the added benefit of easing your data collection and reporting.

The policy provides several options so that it can be modified to accurately reflect your district's practices. Option A is the most aggressive approach, which recognizes that Nebraska law permits administrative and teaching personnel to take actions reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent interference with the educational process, including the use of restraint and seclusion. While this approach is wholly lawful under state and federal law, it is inconsistent with best practices guidance from the state and federal departments of education, and may garner pushback from those agencies if they review your policy. Option B offers a slightly more conservative approach, limiting the circumstances in which physical restraint, mechanical restraint, or seclusion may be used to instances reasonably necessary to present physical harm to self, others, *and* property, in addition to therapeutic or medical uses. Option C offers the most conservative approach that trends closely to state and federal guidance. Notably, Option C limits the use of physical restraint and seclusion

to situations where a student's behavior risks causing physical harm to self or others, but does not consider harm to *property*. If you wish to revise any of these options to better fit your district's needs, we'll be happy to help and discuss the nuances of this area of the law.

Next, this policy now provides specific procedures regarding the use of restraint and seclusion techniques. These procedures satisfy the expectations of the state and federal departments of education, and provide additional evidence that the district was not negligent in implementing these techniques. These procedures recognize that a student's pattern of behavior necessitating the use of restraint or seclusion should be referred to the appropriate student team for consideration. The policy also calls for instances of restraint and seclusion to be recorded in some manner, so that the district can meet its reporting obligations.

Finally, this policy calls for all staff members to be provided notice of this policy and trained on its contents. Staff members identified as likely to implement the restraint or seclusion interventions authorized by the policy are to receive additional training as appropriate. This is another important piece of evidence to demonstrate that the school district met its standard of care in implementing the restraint and seclusion policy, and is a focal point of relevant guidance.

This change is required.

Forms Changes

Collaborative Plan Addressing Barriers to Attendance

Section 79-209 requires schools to hold one or more meetings between, at a minimum, a school attendance officer, a school social worker, or a school administrator or his or her designee, the person who has legal or actual charge or control of the child, and the child, when appropriate, to attempt to address the barriers to attendance. The result of the meeting or meetings is to develop a collaborative plan to reduce barriers identified to improve regular attendance. Section 79-209 was amended to require the plan to consider referrals to restorative justice practices or services. This form has been amended to add this requirement.

This form is required.

Guest Speaker Request Forms

Two guest speaker request forms have been created. One is for classroom or activity guest speakers. The other is for multi-grade assembly guest speakers.

This form is not required by is highly recommended if you adopt new Policy 3056.

Other Issues To Consider

Title VII and Transgender Staff and Student Cases

In the chaos of COVID-19 and new Title IX sexual harassment regulations, it has been easy to forget that the U.S. Supreme Court will likely decide some or all of the legal issues regarding the rights of LGBTQ+ individuals under Title VII (for employees) and Title IX (for employees and students). The Supreme Court combined three cases that will be decided in the next few weeks, involving two homosexual individuals and one transgender individual suing their former employer for sex discrimination based on their LGBTQ+ status.

Courts have always looked to Title VII's prohibition against discrimination "based on sex" when interpreting Title IX's prohibition against discrimination "on the basis of sex." It was clear from the transcripts of the arguments that the Justices see the impact these employment cases will have on public schools. The Justices pointedly noted that the Court's decision in these cases will be used by individuals and advocates when addressing Title IX issues in schools--no matter which way they decide it. They focused on the fact that if the Court decides it is discriminatory to fire or take other adverse employment action based on an individual's sexual orientation or gender identity, the proverbial floodgates will open. Several Justices asked specific questions about things like locker rooms, bathrooms, and participating in activities such as contact sports. The Court's decision may not necessarily require policy changes, but it could fundamentally alter the legal landscape we have been talking about for years.

There is also ongoing litigation in Connecticut regarding a policy permitting participation in athletics by transgender individuals. This case has made recent headlines, and OCR has determined that the policy actually violates Title IX by allowing biological male students to compete in female activities,

consistent with their gender identity. The Obama Administration encouraged the exact opposite, so this is another in a line of circumstances where the Trump Administration's OCR has declared a policy invalid based on changes required by the Obama Administration's OCR!

EDGAR Audits

In 2017 we provided you with Policy 3003.1 and 3004.1 to address the new requirements of the federal Education Department General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR). EDGAR regulations to all federal grants that are made by the US Department of Education to local school districts directly and to all funds that pass from the federal government through state departments of education to local schools. This means that EDGAR governs most local school districts' special education, school breakfast and lunch, and Title I programs. Our policy 3004.1 includes everything that is required by those regulations to be in policy. Unfortunately, some of the individuals who have been contracted by the Nebraska Department of Education believe that schools must adopt a free-standing policy for nutrition services or are telling schools that they must revise their policy. This is not the case, and we have worked closely with the NDE Nutrition Services staff to vet policy 3004.1. However, many of the auditors are contracted staff working from checklists that are not Nebraska-specific. If you are a policy service subscriber and you receive a corrective action notice regarding your EDGAR procurement policy, forward that notice to one of us so that we can resolve this issue for you.

Future Ready District Technology Profiles

NDE has been gathering technology profiles from each school district as part of its Future Ready Framework and Nebraska's Educational Technology and Digital Learning Plan. Section 4 of the survey asks about whether the district has staff policies in place addressing specific topics. For your ease of reference when you or your staff are completing the profile, the content areas that the profile asks about are listed below, with the corresponding policy referenced:

<i>Section 4 Question 1 (staff policies)</i>	
Acceptable Use Policy	5037
Cyberbullying	5054

Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) Compliance	5037
Email Usage and Security	5037
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) Compliance	5016 and 5017
Social Media Use	4051
Universal Design or Digital Accessibility for Learning	No policy (A policy on this is not required)
<i>Section 4 Question 3</i>	
Acceptable Use Policy	5037
Cyberbullying	5054
Digital Citizenship	5054
Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) Compliance	5037
Email Usage and Security	5037
Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) Compliance	5016 and 5017
Social Media Use	No policy (any attempt to broadly govern student social media use in policy will likely violate the First Amendment. Instead we advise schools to take an educational approach in teaching students about appropriate social media use.)

Leave Under the Families First Coronavirus Response Act

As we have shared through our email updates and webinars, earlier this spring Congress passed the Families First Coronavirus Response Act ("FFCRA") which created two types of employer-paid leave: Employer-Paid Sick Leave and Emergency Family and Medical Leave. These types of leave can be taken for certain reasons related to the novel coronavirus and COVID-19. Many of the requirements of this new leave program are mandatory, but employers (like the school district) do have some discretion and/or choices to make with respect to how you administer the leave and respond to requests.

There are at least two details for the district to consider. First, whether you will allow employees to supplement the amount of pay that they receive pursuant to the FFCRA with pre-existing paid leave under the terms of their employment agreement with you. Second, how you will handle requests from employees to take Emergency Family and Medical Leave (and in certain narrow instances Emergency Paid Sick Leave) on an intermittent basis.

As of now, FFCRA leave is only available through December 31, 2020. As a result, we decided that at this point it probably does not make sense for your board to formally adopt FFCRA-specific provisions to be part of your regular board policies. So, you will not see any FFCRA leave-specific policies in these updates. Still, we recommend that you think about how you will administer FFCRA leave (including the two specific issues identified above) and have a plan to respond to requests. We are happy to discuss these details and options with you.

HANDBOOKS

With all of the uncertainty surrounding what school will look like for the 2020-21 school year, we are reluctant to advise permanent policy changes addressing COVID-19 issues. However, it is almost certain that school operations will have to be modified substantially next school year. And we know that many districts send their handbooks to be printed in the early summer. In order to put families on notice about possible rule modifications based on the pandemic while still maintaining maximum flexibility, we are suggesting that schools add the following wording into their handbooks:

RECOGNITION OF POTENTIAL AMENDMENTS OR SUPPLEMENTS

In light of the unique challenges and circumstances posed by the outbreak of the novel coronavirus and the recent promulgation of expansive federal regulations, the rules and information provided in this handbook may be supplemented or amended by the School District's administration at any time, consistent with applicable law and board policy. All parents shall be provided notice of any such changes by the district's regular means of contact. By signing below, you agree that you will read any such information and communications, discuss them with your child, and recognize that you must comply with all rules, procedures, and requirements as they apply at that time.

While this isn't a cure-all, it should put families on notice that the rules may change for 2020-21. Notice that the district will have an affirmative obligation to distribute any changes, although the format of that distribution will be up to you. If you use KSB's model handbooks, this wording will be included in the 2020-21 updates which will be available in mid-June. If you do not use our model handbooks, you can insert this wording into your handbooks on the receipt page, right above the student and parent signature blocks.

Policies to be Expected In Updates 2 and 3

COVID-19 really wreaked havoc on our plans to have all policy and handbook updates done for June board meetings. Based on the unique deadlines and effective dates we've laid out below, we may even recommend that school boards schedule their meetings slightly differently this fall.

The Unicameral session is tentatively scheduled to resume July 20 and adjourn *sine die* on August 13. That means any laws passed between the start of session in January and through August 13 that do not have an emergency clause will become effective three months after August 13. If all goes according to plan, this should be on or about **Friday, November 13, 2020**. Most schools would likely have November board meetings on November 9, the second Monday. If your board meeting is not scheduled to be held prior to that date, you may want to consider doing so to avoid having the effective date change your meeting notice requirements.

The U.S. Department of Education (finally) released their new Title IX regulations in early May, which have now been published officially in the Federal Register. They will become effective **August 14, 2020** unless they

are delayed by Congress or by judicial action. Most schools will meet on August 10, the second Monday. Although we will have Title IX policies and other items for you to begin reviewing prior to that date, you should consider moving your board meeting to a date before August 14 if possible to avoid a special meeting to implement the new Title IX policies prior to the effective date.

The typical meeting schedules line up fairly well with effective dates, but schools and ESUs will still need to have policies, handbooks, and notices ready this summer to begin the 2020-2021 school year, even if there are relatively few changes until those dates noted above. There will almost certainly be additional policy, handbook, and other impacts related to COVID-19 as we move toward the fall, as well. This is why we are stuck with three separate sets of updates this year.

We will try to make this as painless and straightforward as possible, but we know administrators and boards are already preparing for some tough decisions and longer board meetings. In light of that, here is our tentative schedule for additional updates in the coming weeks and months.

May 29: Initial policy and form revisions sent. Initial handbook updates available. *However*, if your district has the luxury of time because you don't have to send them to a printer, you may want to discuss if you can wait to finalize handbooks until the COVID-19 and Title IX updates are clearer.

June 1: Initial policy webinar. This will be recorded and posted on our website.

Sometime between July 1 - August 7: Second policy, form, and handbook revisions sent. These will include COVID-19-related considerations for reopening this fall and Title IX policies, handbook updates, and forms. These will be sent based on planned training schedules, litigation tracking, and additional federal guidance on implementation. You may have your own updates to make based on your individual COVID-19 plans, as well.

We do want to note that we plan to make the handbook updates available in two forms: (1) updates included in our full handbooks, and (2) 20-21 handbook "supplements" for those schools that have already completed handbook updates and do not want to reprint or resend the entire handbook.

On or before October 30: Third policy, form, and handbook revisions sent to accommodate the effective dates of new legislative action from

the Unicameral. If there are any additional handbook updates or changes, we will again provide them in two forms.

October 31: Everyone from KSB will trick-or-treat dressed as “attorneys really sick of COVID-19 and policy updates.”

Tuesday, November 3: Presidential election that may or may not unravel a lot of this work.

At least the following policies will be coming in later rounds of updates:

Title IX (new): due to new regulations effective Aug. 14, but with plenty of time in between now and then for legislative delays or court injunctions. Lawsuits are already pending.

COVID-19-related changes: your guess is as good as ours.... We plan to consider changes throughout June and July, as information develops. We also plan to collaborate with NRCSA and its committees on reopening issues.

Meetings (2008): due to LB 148 and delayed effective date.

Budget (3001): due to LB 148 and delayed effective date. Because the effective date will be after the budget submission deadline, then these changes will be effective in November but likely will not affect the budget process until 2021. However, they could impact any budget amendments, which may be prevalent this year based on ever-changing COVID-19 relief aid and impacts from the virus.

Parental Involvement (5018): this may be updated based on ongoing discussions with NDE regarding the conflict between the rights of a parent to request an opt out from state assessments and the state and federal law that requires “all students” to be assessed.

CONCLUSION

It is all too easy to adopt policies that look good, but that do not actually reflect how the school operates or assist the school in accomplishing its goals. Every year we stress that it is very important to us to give you a working, useful set of policies and a continuing **policy service**. For our Complete Service subscribers, there is no additional charge for revisions to our policies or consultation about them. Please don't hesitate to contact any one of us with questions about the updates or other policies. Our group e-mail address is ksb@ksbschoollaw.com.

2002 Organization of the Board

1. Membership, Term and Election

- a. The Board of Education shall be comprised of six members who will be elected at large.
- b. Those who wish to serve on the board shall file, be elected, and serve terms of office on the board according to law.

2. Internal Organization and Officers

a. President

- i. At the regular January meeting, the board shall elect from among its members a president who shall serve in that capacity for one year.
- ii. The president shall preside at all board meetings, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by law or by action of the board.

b. Vice President

- i. At the regular January meeting, the board shall elect from among its members a vice president who shall serve in that capacity for one year.
- ii. The vice president shall preside in the absence of the president, and shall perform such other duties as are assigned by the board.

c. Secretary

- i. At the regular January meeting, the board shall elect a secretary who need not be a member of the board. The secretary shall serve in that capacity for one year. If the secretary is a member of the board, an assistant secretary may be named and his or her duties and compensation set by the board.
- ii. The secretary shall see that an accurate record of the proceedings of the board is kept, that a copy of

SMSC7-02 7/7/20 11:34 AM

Formatted: Left: 1.25", Right: 1.25",
Section start: New page, Header distance
from edge: 0.5", Footer distance from
edge: 0.5"

the proceedings is provided to each board member and to the superintendent, and that a concise summary of each month's meeting is published along with a list of all approved claims. The secretary shall perform such other duties as are prescribed by law and assigned by the board.

d. Treasurer

i. At the regular January meeting, the board shall elect, employ, or appoint a treasurer who need not be a member of the board if permitted by law. The treasurer shall serve in that capacity for one year, unless the board designates a longer term for the treasurer.

ii. The treasurer may be designated to sign checks and certain other documents. The treasurer is the custodian of the monies of the district.

iii. The treasurer shall give bond or equivalent insurance coverage payable to the district as prescribed by law with the cost of the bond being paid by the district.

iv. The treasurer shall issue no warrant of payment of claim against the district until such claim has been duly authorized.

3. Signing and Authorizing Checks, Warrants, and other Instruments.

a. Unless otherwise delegated by the board, the president and secretary of the board shall sign checks, warrants, and other instruments of the district.

b. The board may delegate another person to sign and validate any checks, warrants, and other instruments. Facsimile signatures of board members may be used.

Author
Deleted: A treasurer from the board will beThe board will employ or designated a treasurer on a year-to-year basis as permitted by law

Author
Deleted: will

Author
Deleted: by the board and has been duly countersigned by the president

Author
Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Author
Formatted: Normal

Author
Deleted:

Author
Deleted: Orders

Author
Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

Author
Deleted: warrants

Author
Deleted: all

Author
Deleted: warrants, checks

c. The board delegates that the vice president or treasurer may sign any warrant in the absence of either the president or the secretary.

d.

e.

4. Board Officer Voting and Tie Breakers

- a. The vote to elect board officers may be taken by secret ballot, but the total number of votes for each candidate shall be recorded in the minutes.
- b. In the event any officer cannot be elected by a majority after 10 votes; no votes occur after ten motions fail for lack of a "second,"; or no member volunteers to serve as an officer for a particular position, the tie will be broken by the applicable method:

If the board is split between two members, the officer will be determined by coin flip. The winning member will be the officer for the upcoming year unless the position changes by action of the board.

- i. If the board is split between more than two members who wish to serve as the officer, any member wanting to serve as the officer will put his or her name into a drawing. The name drawn out will be the officer for the upcoming year unless the position changes by action of the board.
- ii. If no member is willing to serve as an officer for a position which is required to be a member of the board, all non-officers' names will be put into a drawing. The name drawn out will be the officer for the upcoming year unless the position changes by action of the board.

5. Committees

- a. The board shall authorize such special committees as it deems necessary. The board president shall appoint members to the committee, and designate its function, tasks it is to perform, and a completion date for its work.

Author

Deleted: The board may delegate another person to sign and validate all warrants, checks, and other instruments. Facsimile signatures of board members may be used

Author

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", No bullets or numbering

Author

Deleted: <#>The board may delegate another person to sign and validate all warrants, checks, and other instruments. Facsimile signatures of board members may be used. .

Author

Formatted: List Paragraph, Left, No bullets or numbering

Author

Moved up [3]: The vice president or secretary may sign any warrant in the absence of either the president or the treasurer.

Author

Moved (insertion) [3]

Author

Deleted: The vice president or secretary may sign any warrant in the absence of either the president or the treasurer.

Author

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.75" + Indent at: 1"

Author

Deleted: .
[Option 2]:

Author

Deleted: **[Option 2]:**

Author

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0.5"

- b. On or before the beginning of each calendar year, the board shall appoint three members to form a Committee on American Civics. The committee's duties shall be those prescribed by Nebraska statutes, which include:
- i. Hold no fewer than two public meetings annually, at least one when public testimony is accepted;
 - ii. Keep minutes of each meeting showing the time and place of the meeting, which members were present or absent, and the substance and details of all matters discussed;
 - iii. Examine and ensure that the social studies curriculum used in the district is aligned with the social studies standards adopted pursuant to section 79-760.01 and teaches foundational knowledge in civics, history, economics, financial literacy, and geography;
 - iv. Review and approve the social studies curriculum to ensure that it stresses the services of the men and women who played a crucial role in the achievement of national independence, establishment of our constitutional government, and preservation of the union and includes the incorporation of multicultural education as set forth in sections 79-719 to 79-723 in order to instill a pride and respect for the nation's institutions and not be merely a recital of events and dates;
 - v. Ensure that any curriculum recommended or approved by the committee on American civics is made readily accessible to the public and contains a reference to this section;
 - vi. Ensure that the district develops and utilizes formative, interim, and summative assessments to measure student mastery of the social studies standards adopted pursuant to section 79-760.01;
 - vii. Ensure that the social studies curriculum in the district incorporates one or more of the following for each student:
 1. Administration of a written test that is identical to the entire civics portion of the naturalization test used by United States Citizenship and Immigration Services prior to the completion of eighth grade and again prior to the completion of twelfth grade with the individual score from

- each test for each student made available to a parent or guardian of such student; or
2. Attendance or participation between the commencement of eighth grade and completion of twelfth grade in a meeting of a public body as defined by section 84-1409 followed by the completion of a project or paper in which each student demonstrates or discusses the personal learning experience of such student related to such attendance or participation; or
 3. Completion of a project or paper and a class presentation between the commencement of eighth grade and the completion of twelfth grade on a person or persons or an event commemorated by a holiday listed in section 79-724(6) or on a topic related to such person or persons or event; and
- viii. Take all such other steps as will assure the carrying out of the provisions of this section and provide a report to the school board regarding the committee's findings and recommendations.

6. Vacancies

- a. A vacancy on the board of education shall exist when any one of the following occurs:
 - i. A member submits his or her formal resignation from the board.
 - ii. A member removes himself or herself from the district or is absent from the district for a continuous period of sixty days.
 - iii. A member misses more than two consecutive regular board meetings unless excused by a majority of the remaining members.
 - iv. Such other reasons as are set forth in Nebraska statutes.
- b. The board shall make note the vacancy in its minutes and shall give notice of the date the vacancy occurred, the

office vacated, and the length of the unexpired term to (1) the election commissioner or county clerk, and (2) the public by published notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the district.

- c. Vacancies shall be filled in the manner set forth in Nebraska statutes.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

3014
Use of School Property

Community Use of School Facilities

School facilities are primarily intended for the District's educational and extracurricular activity programs. School facilities are, however, made available for use by outside groups to further the interests of the District and the community. Use by non-school groups is allowed pursuant to an application process and is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this policy.

1. Application for Use.

Outside groups that wish to use school facilities must submit a completed Application for Use form signed by a representative of the outside group who has authority to commit the outside group to the terms and conditions of the Application. The outside group, as Applicant, shall specify the nature of the intended use, the dates and times of the requested use, and the facilities for which use is requested.

The form shall be developed by the administration. The form shall include the statement that:

This application is subject to the terms of the Board's "Community Use of School Facilities" policy. The terms and conditions of that policy are incorporated into this application by this reference. Applicant accepts all such terms and conditions.

2. Acceptance of Application for Use.

Acceptance or rejection of applications shall be the responsibility of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee.

Applications shall not be rejected for any unlawful reason, including unlawful discrimination on the basis of race, national origin, gender, religion, disability, age, marital status, or veteran status, and including the applicant's legally protected exercise

Unknown
Field Code Changed

of constitutional or statutory rights.

The District's facilities are designated as nonpublic forums. Accordingly, applications shall not be accepted for:

- a. Uses that may conflict with or that disrupt the District's educational or extracurricular activity programs.
- b. Uses inconsistent with the mission of the District.
- c. Uses that present an unacceptable risk that the conditions of use set forth in this policy will not be adhered to; either due to the nature of the requested use or the character of the group or individuals within the group.
- d. Uses that present an unacceptable risk of damage or unacceptable wear and tear to facilities or equipment.
- e. Uses for outside commercial activities except with approval of the Board; and except for camps and other activities for high school students subject to and consistent with Bylaws of the Nebraska School Activities Association.
- f. Uses that involves gambling or games of chance.
- g. Uses that involves a group or activity which advocates or condones the violent overthrow of the Constitution or of the government.
- h. Uses that involve the meetings of secret clubs not open to members of the public.
- i. Non-community type uses such as wedding receptions, slumber parties, personal use and similar activities.

Applications for use of facilities may be denied based on unsuitability of the date or time of the requested use. Facilities will generally not be available for community use at times when school staff are not available to monitor the Applicant's use, such as on legal holidays; before 7:00 a.m.; after 10:00 p.m. and Sunday mornings prior to Noon.

Leases of school facilities require approval of the Board. As such, Applications that request long-term use of facilities in the nature of a lease will be denied.

Applications may be denied based on the determination of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee that the Applicant does not have the financial ability or financial responsibility to pay fees or expenses or to reimburse the District for any damages that may be sustained to facilities or equipment or any liability that may be created by the use.

When an Application conflicts with another Application, the Applications will be accepted according to the following priority order:

- a. Events or activities that are designed to service students of the District or which are related to any function of the District, including approved school-community associations and school-affiliated non-profit groups.
- b. Tax-supported agencies such as educational entities or units of city, county or state government.
- c. Nonprofit community agencies such as private educational agencies.
- d. Groups where the majority of the members reside within the District.

For use conflicts within each group, priority will be given to the first to submit their Application; provided that the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee may approve an Application that is not first-filed if the other Applicant's use could be feasibly changed to a non-conflicting time or area.

Applications that are accepted may not be assigned or transferred to another outside group.

Applications that are accepted are subject to cancellation by the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee. Cancellation will occur in the event the administration reasonably determines:

- a. Any of the reasons for non-acceptance of an application exist.
- b. The Applicant fails to meet any term or condition required prior to the use. This includes but is not limited to failure of the Applicant to pay required fees or deposits or failure to show evidence that any required insurance is in place.
- c. Circumstances make the use unsuitable. This includes but is not limited to:
 - i. The condition of the facilities being unsafe. For example, the presence of snow, ice, fallen limbs or other potential hazards that the school would not otherwise clear prior to the activity or event. The Applicant may request that the District clear the hazards such that it may proceed with its activity or event. If the District agrees to do so, the Applicant shall be responsible for all costs incurred by the District in clearing the hazard.
 - ii. School staff being unavailable to monitor the use or to provide set-up or clean-up services where the District has accepted responsibility for such.
 - iii. The need to use the facilities for a school activity or purpose.

Generally, if school is closed on the date of the Applicant's intended use due to inclement weather or hazardous conditions, the Applicant's use will be cancelled.

The Applicant shall remain responsible for fees or expenses, and any deposit that has been received by the District shall be forfeited and be kept by the District, if cancellation occurs because of the fault of the Applicant. Otherwise, the District will return any deposit that has been received by the District. The District will in no event be responsible for any damages, expenses, or losses incurred by the Applicant or any person arising from the cancellation.

An Applicant may withdraw its Application at any time prior to acceptance. An accepted application may be withdrawn by the Applicant, subject to approval of the Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee. Approval is subject to the conditions that the Applicant has given reasonable advance notice (ordinarily, at least 48 hours) and that the Applicant reimburse the District for any expense the District has incurred.

3. Conditions of Use.

The conditions for use are as follows:

- a. Compliance. Applicant agrees to:
 - i. Comply with all local, state and federal laws, including health and fire codes.
 - ii. Comply with Board policies concerning non-discrimination and the use of school facilities.
 - iii. Comply with reasonable administrative rules related to use of facilities and the requests of school officials related to the Applicant's use of the facility.
- b. Disclaim School Sponsorship. The District does not sponsor or endorse the Applicant or the activity or event conducted by the Applicant. To ensure that the public understands this fact, the Applicant agrees to not make any statements suggesting such sponsorship and to publish statements of non-school sponsorship in such form and manner as the administration may request.
- c. Supervision. Applicant agrees to provide appropriate supervision of the activity or event in all respects, including supervision reasonably necessary to ensure that no person participating in or attending the activity or event:
 - i. Is presented with conditions that pose an unreasonable risk of personal injury or damage to personal property.
 - ii. Enters any area of the school facilities that the Applicant has not been given permission to use, or accesses any school records.
 - iii. Engages in the use of tobacco, alcohol, or illegal drugs, or is under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs.
 - iv. Possesses a firearm or a weapon.
 - v. Engages in disorderly, lewd, or lascivious conduct.
 - vi. Engages in any criminal behavior.

Applicant shall remove any person from the activity or event who engages in any of the above listed conduct. Applicant agrees to report to the school administration by the close of the next business day the identity of any person who engaged in any of the above listed conduct and the details of the conduct. If the offending person is a student, the report shall be made immediately.

In the event the school administration determines that the nature of the activity or event warrants the presence of security services, Applicant agrees to provide such security services.

Applicant agrees to ensure that all persons attending its activity or event are off school grounds at the end of its time of permitted use, except for students or school staff who are authorized to remain for a school-related purpose.

- d. Condition of Premises. Applicant agrees to:

- i. Conduct a reasonable inspection of the premises prior to the activity or event to ensure that the premises are safe for the intended use. In the event of any unsafe condition, Applicant shall notify an administrator. In the event the unsafe condition is not corrected prior to the activity or event, the Applicant shall postpone or cancel the activity or event.
 - ii. Not use or allow any school equipment to be used without express approval of school administration.
 - iii. Not bring or allow others to bring food or beverages on to school grounds without express approval of school administration.
 - iv. Not bring or allow others to bring or use any flammable items (including candles or incense) or any volatile chemical or any explosive.
 - v. Not use any electrical equipment that has been brought onto the premises without express approval of school administration.
 - vi. Not allow the wearing of street shoes or shoes with black soles on gym floors or other protected surfaces.
 - vii. Not park or allow others to park in fire lanes or reserved spaces or in any manner inconsistent with the school's parking rules.
 - viii. Not cause or allow others to cause damage to school facilities or equipment.
 - 1. In the event damages are sustained, Applicant accepts responsibility for reimbursing the District for the cost of repair or replacement.
 - 2. Applicant agrees that the school administration's determination that damage was sustained in connection with the Applicant's use, and of the cost of repair or replacement, is controlling.
 - 3. Applicant shall immediately report to the school administration any damage to school facilities or equipment that occurs during the Applicant's use of school facilities that may present a risk of injury to students or any subsequent users. Any other damage shall be reported by the close of the next business day.
 - ix. Return the facilities in as good a condition as it was prior to use. This includes, without limitation, cleaning, removal of trash, and returning tables and chairs and other school property to their proper location. The clean-up shall be promptly completed. In the event the District provides the clean-up service, Applicant agrees to reimburse the District for the cost of such clean-up.
 - x. Remove any property brought in by the Applicant and by any person attending the activity or event. The District is not responsible for any personal property that is left on the premises.
- e. Financial Responsibility. Applicant agrees to:
 - i. Procure, at its own expense, a Comprehensive General Liability insurance policy naming the District as an additional insured. This policy shall be written with a minimum of \$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per occurrence. A Certificate of Insurance evidencing coverage must be submitted prior to the Applicant's use.
 - ii. The insurance requirement is subject to waiver by the

Superintendent or the Superintendent's designee only in circumstances where the intended use presents very little potential for injury or damage and the activity or event is designed to serve the District's students or staff.

- iii. Indemnify and hold the District, the Board, school employees and agents of the District harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, or lawsuits for any death or personal injury or damage to property sustained during, caused by or arising out of the Applicant's use of school facilities.

4. Fees for Use.

The Superintendent or Superintendent's designee shall establish a daily use fee schedule that establishes rates for specific parts of the school facilities (that is, kitchen, auditorium, gymnasium, athletic field, classrooms, meeting rooms). The rates shall be reviewed on a periodic basis; with the review to occur no less than every two years.

The fee rates shall be in an amount sufficient to cover estimated staff time and direct costs associated with:

- a. Processing. Cost of processing the Application, postage, invoicing and coordination of the use.
- b. Access. Cost of providing access; such as unlocking doors before use and locking after use, turning lights on and off, and disarming/re-arming security systems.
- c. Custodial. Cost of providing custodial or maintenance services to prepare the facility for the use and for clean-up after the use.
- d. Kitchen. Cost of providing access to the kitchen facilities; as ordinarily any permitted use of the kitchen will require the presence of a member of the school's food service staff.
- e. Monitoring. Cost of administrative or other professional staff to monitor the Applicant's use to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the permitted use.
- f. Security. Cost of providing security services when determined to be needed for the activity or event.
- g. Sound & Lighting/School Equipment. The only people allowed to use the sound & lighting equipment in the theater are to be school personnel specifically trained to use such equipment. No other people outside the school are to use it. Any group using the theater will be required to pay a Maintenance Surcharge of \$10, which will go into a fund used to replace lights, sound equipment, etc.
- h. School Equipment such as projectors, VCR's, musical instruments, etc., may not be loaned or rented for use outside of the school without special permission of the activities director or his/her designee. Use of school space does not include use of school equipment unless specifically

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:40 PM

Deleted: <#>Special Equipment.
Cost of making special equipment available such as sound and lighting set-up; as ordinarily any permitted use of special equipment will require the presence of a member of the school's staff who is familiar with proper use of the equipment.

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:37 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt, Not Italic, Underline

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:37 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt, Not Italic, Underline

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:37 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:37 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt, Underline

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:38 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt, Underline

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:37 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Arial, 11 pt

permitted. Use of school equipment when required must be by school personnel, the cost of which will be added to the regular fee.

▼ The fee schedule shall be applied evenly to all Applicants, with two exceptions:

- a. A different fee may be assessed where the Superintendent or Superintendent's designee reasonably determines that the Applicant's use will require staff time or cause direct costs different than those used in establishing the fee schedule.
- b. A fee waiver or reduced fee rate shall be given for use where the activity or event is designed to serve students of the District or children; such as approved school-community associations and school-affiliated non-profit groups and summertime sports leagues, sports camps, etc., that are subject to NSAA regulations.

5. Use Consistent with NSAA Bylaws.

Use of school facilities for activities that are subject to the Bylaws of the Nebraska School Activities Association (NSAA) shall be permitted subject to and in accordance with the NSAA Bylaws. Such use shall be consistent with this policy for non-school groups. Examples of acceptable use of school facilities for activities are:

- a. Summer Leagues. There must be evidence that the organization or individual conducting the league has rented or leased the facility (for example, via an Application for Use) to prove the school is not involved in its sponsorship or funding.
- b. Commercial Sport Camps/Clinics. School facilities for use by individuals, including the District's own coaches or other organizations for commercial camps/clinics or schools. Camps conducted by high school coaches shall be publicized as open to all area individuals wishing to attend and not limited to students from the coach's high school.
- c. All-Star competition that involves graduated seniors.
- d. Competitive meets and contests sponsored by non-school groups.
- e. Facilities approved under the above stipulations include: gymnasiums, tracks, swimming pools, tennis courts, athletic playing fields, and baseball and softball diamonds.

Adopted on: June 14, 2010

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

SMSC7-02 6/22/20 3:39 PM

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1", No bullets or numbering, Tabs:Not at 0.5"

SMSC7-02 7/1/20 8:52 AM

Deleted: Page Break

Seward Public Schools Facility Rental Agreement must be completed prior to facility use.

Name of Organization Making Request: _____ Date: _____

Facilities Requested. Building: _____ Areas: _____

Dates & Times Requested:

Dates (From-To)	Time (From-To)	Repeating	# Wks
		Yes _____ No _____	
		Yes _____ No _____	
		Yes _____ No _____	

Details of Use (Attach an additional explanation if needed)

Describe the Type of Activity or Event:

No. of Anticipated Users and Spectators: _____

Concessions/Food Served: Yes No Describe:

<u>Advance Deposit</u>	<u>\$</u>
<u>Date Deposit Due</u>	

Applicant shall procure, at its own expense, a Comprehensive General Liability insurance policy naming the District as an additional insured. This policy shall be written with a minimum of \$1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per occurrence. A Certificate of Insurance evidencing coverage must be submitted prior to the Applicant's use.

Insurance requirement waived: Yes No (for school official to complete)

Policy Compliance and Acceptance of Liability

The application is subject to the terms of the Board's "Community Use of School Facilities" policy. The terms and conditions of that policy are incorporated into the application by this reference. Applicant accepts all such terms and conditions.

We have read, understand and agree to abide by the policies, rules and conditions on the use of these facilities on this form and in Board Policy. We understand that we are accepting the use of the facility from the Seward Public Schools with no assurances or guarantees relative to their condition. It shall be our responsibility to check the facility to see that it is safe for our intended use. We take full responsibility for the facilities while they are being used by our group and will make full restitution for any and all damages which may occur while our group is using the facility. We agree to indemnify and hold the school district harmless for any and all accidents and injuries to ourselves or others while we are using the facility regardless of the negligence of the school district or its personnel. We assume full responsibility and liability for any injuries.

Name, Position _____ Signature _____ Date _____

Name, Position _____ Signature _____ Date _____

Fee Schedule

<u>Class I</u>	Civic organizations devoted to community interest and child welfare. Admission and donations not solicited. No charge and must be approved by the activities director. There will be no rental fee but, the \$25/hour per custodian fee will still apply.
<u>Class II</u>	Organizations not operating for profit but devoted to community interest. Admission is charged or donations are solicited.
<u>Class III</u>	Groups operating for a profit.

<u>Facility</u>	<u>Class I</u>	<u>Class II</u>	<u>Class III</u>
<u>Classroom</u> <u>Fee includes minimal custodial services to check classroom at conclusion of use-subject to additional charge for custodial services.</u>	<u>\$25</u>	<u>\$25</u>	<u>\$25</u>
<u>Gym</u> <u>Half-Day</u> <u>Full-Day</u> <u>Fee includes minimal custodial services to check facility at conclusion of use-subject to additional charge for custodial services.</u>		<u>\$70</u> <u>\$140</u>	<u>\$200</u> <u>\$400</u>
<u>Theater</u> <u>Half-Day</u> <u>Full-Day</u> <u>Sound & Lighting- per person/per hour</u> <u>Maintenance Fund Surcharge</u> <u>Fee includes minimal custodial services to check facility at conclusion of use-subject to additional charge for custodial services.</u>	<u>\$25</u>	<u>\$100</u> <u>\$200</u> <u>\$25</u> <u>\$25</u>	<u>\$200</u> <u>\$400</u> <u>\$25</u> <u>\$25</u>
<u>Kitchen</u> <u>Half-Day</u> <u>Full-Day</u> <u>Fee includes minimal custodial services to check facility at conclusion of use-subject to additional charge for custodial services.</u>		<u>\$25</u> <u>\$50</u>	<u>\$50</u> <u>\$100</u>
<u>Custodian Fee \$25/ hour per custodian needed</u>			
<u>Open or closing fee-if applicable</u>	<u>\$30</u>	<u>\$30</u>	<u>\$30</u>

Snow removal \$100/ hour	\$100/hr	\$100/hr	\$100/hr
Track		\$250	\$300
Other SPS Facilities	TBD	TBD	TBD

TBD=To be determined.

Half Day= 1-4 hours. Full Day= 4+ hours

Total Cost of Rental

3039

Threat Assessment and Response

The board of education is committed to providing a safe environment for members of the school community. Students, staff and patrons are urged to immediately report any statements or behavior that makes the observer fearful or uncomfortable about the safety of the school environment.

1. Definitions

a. A **threat** is an expression of a willful intent to physically or sexually harm someone or to damage property in a way that indicates that an individual poses a danger to the safety of school staff, students or other members of the school community.

i. The threat may be expressed/communicated behaviorally, orally, visually, in writing, electronically, or through any other means.

ii. A **transient threat** is an expression of anger or frustration that can be quickly or easily resolved.

iii. A **substantive threat** is an expression of serious intent to harm others which includes, but is not limited to, any threat which involves a detailed plan and means.

b. A **threat assessment** is a fact-based process emphasizing an appraisal of observed (or reasonably-observable) behaviors to identify potentially dangerous or violent

A

Name of Organization Making Request

Type of Organization and Type of Event or activity that is being requested

_____ approved school-community

_____ Tax-supported agency such as

_____ Nonprofit community agency

_____ Group in which the majority of members are

_____ Other. Describe: _____

Facilities Requested. Building: _____

Dates (From – To)

Describe the Type of Activity or Event

No. of Anticipated Users and Spectators

Set Up or Tear Down Required by Event

Type of Cleaning Required During Event

Special Equipment to be Used (Disinfectant, etc.)

Fees (To Be Completed by Supervisor)

Type	
Processing	_____
Access	_____
Custodial	_____
Kitchen	_____
Special Equipment	_____
Monitoring	_____
Security	_____
Total	_____

This application is subject to the terms and conditions of the policy are incorporated into this application.

We have read, understand and agree to the terms and conditions of the Policy. We understand that we are responsible for the facilities while relative to their condition. It shall be the responsibility for the facilities while occur while our group is using the facilities. We assume full responsibility and liability for any injuries to ourselves or others who are using the facilities.

Name, Position

Deleted: Name, Position

SMSC7-02 6/17/20 11:47 AM

Deleted: [Option 1: Team Concept]

Karen Haase 5/29/20 11:00 AM

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 + Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Right + Aligned at: 1.38" + Tab after: 1.5" + Indent at: 1.5"

situations, to assessment them and to manage/address them. Threat assessment is the process of identifying and responding to serious threats in a systematic, data-informed way.

i. The threat assessment process is distinct from student disciplinary procedures. The mere fact that the district is conducting a threat assessment does not by itself necessitate suspension, expulsion or emergency exclusion without complying with state law and board policy related governing those actions.

ii. The threat assessment process is distinct from specialized instruction which a student with a disability may receive from the school district. The school district will not change a student's educational placement as that term is used in the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act *solely* as part of a threat assessment.

Karen Haase 5/22/20 2:48 PM

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 3 +
Numbering Style: i, ii, iii, ... + Start at: 1 +
Alignment: Right + Aligned at: 1.38" + Tab
after: 1.5" + Indent at: 1.5"

2. Obligation to Report Threatening Statements or Behaviors.

All staff and students must report **substantive threats** to a member of the administration immediately and comply with any other mandatory reporting obligations. Staff and students who are unsure whether a threat is substantive or transient should report the situation. Staff and students must make such report regardless of the nature of the relationship between the individual who initiated the threat or threatening behavior and the person(s) who were threatened or who were the focus of the threatening behavior. Staff and students must also make such reports regardless of where or when the threat was made or the threatening behavior occurred.

Karen Haase 5/22/20 2:48 PM

Deleted: any threatening statements or behavior

Karen Haase 5/26/20 11:02 AM

Deleted:

Karen Haase 5/29/20 10:56 AM

Deleted: 2

SMSC7-02 6/17/20 11:40 AM

Deleted:

SMSC7-02 6/17/20 11:39 AM

Deleted: [Note to be deleted: This team should include at least the superintendent of schools, building principal(s), guidance counselor and local law enforcement. It also could include information technology staff, the school nurse, members of the mental health profession who would be willing to work with the school. It should not include parents or board members. Members of the school crisis team may also serve on the threat assessment team.]

THREATS OR ASSAULTS WHICH REQUIRE IMMEDIATE INTERVENTION SHOULD BE REPORTED TO THE POLICE AT 911.

3. Threat Assessment Team

The threat assessment team (team) shall consist of the building principal, counselor, technology director, superintendent, and other staff members who may support the team. Not every team member need participate in every threat assessment. If the threat has been made by or is directed towards, a student with a disability, the threat assessment team must include a staff member who is knowledgeable

about special education services or Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, as appropriate. Neither the student nor their student's family members are part of the threat assessment team.

Karen Haase 5/22/20 2:51 PM

Deleted:

The team is responsible for investigating all reported threats to school safety, evaluating the significance of each threat, and devising an appropriate response. The threat assessment team shall work closely with the crisis team in planning for crisis situations. The threat assessment team shall be familiar with mental health resources available to students, staff and patrons and shall collaborate with local mental health service providers as appropriate.

Karen Haase 5/29/20 10:57 AM

Deleted: 3

Karen Haase 5/22/20 2:59 PM

Deleted: All reports of violent, threatening, stalking or other behavior or statements which could be interpreted as posing a threat to school safety will immediately be forwarded to a member of the team. Upon receipt of an initial report of any threat, the team will take steps to verify the information, make an initial assessment, and document any decision involving further action. This investigation may include

Karen Haase 5/22/20 3:01 PM

Deleted: i

Karen Haase 5/22/20 3:01 PM

Deleted: person who made the statement(s) or engaged in the behavior of concern, interviews with teachers and other

Karen Haase 5/22/20 3:01 PM

Deleted: who may have information about the individual of concern, interviews with the target(s) of the threatening statements or behavior

Karen Haase 5/22/20 2:59 PM

Deleted: , interviews of

Karen Haase 5/22/20 3:02 PM

Deleted: , physical searches of the individual of concern's person, possessions, and home (as allowed by law and in cooperation with law enforcement), and a

4. Threat Assessment Investigation and Response

When a threat is reported, the school administrator shall initiate an initial inquiry/triage and, in consultation with members of the threat assessment team, make a determination of the seriousness of the threat as expeditiously as possible. The school administrator must contact law enforcement if the administrator believes that an individual poses a clear and immediate threat of serious violence.

If there is no reasonably apparent imminent threat present or once such an imminent threat is contained, the threat assessment team will meet to evaluate and respond to the threatening behavior. The team may, but is not required to, review the following types of information:

- Review of the threatening behavior and/or communication;
- Interviews with the individuals involved including students, staff members, and family members as necessary and/or appropriate;
- Review of school and other records for any prior history or interventions with the students involved;
- Any other investigatory methods that the team determines to be reasonable and useful.

At the conclusion of the investigation, the team will determine what, if any, response to the threat is appropriate. The team is authorized to disclose the results of its investigation to law enforcement and to the target(s) of any threatened acts. The team may refer the individual of concern to the appropriate school administrator for consequences under the school's student discipline policy or, if appropriate, report

the results of its investigation to the student's individualized education plan team.

Regardless of threat assessment activities, disciplinary action and referral to law enforcement will occur consistent with board policy and Nebraska law.

5. Communication with the Public about Reported Threats

The team will keep members of the school community appropriately informed about substantive threats and about the team's response to those threats. This communication may include oral announcements, written communication sent home with students, or communication through print or broadcast media. However, the team will not reveal the identity of the individual of concern or of any target(s) of threatened violence unless permitted by law.

6. Coordination with the Crisis Team After Resolution of Threat

The threat assessment team will confer with the district's crisis team after a threat has been investigated to provide the crisis team with information that the crisis team may use in assessing or revising the district's All-Hazard School Safety Plan.

Adopted on: _____
Revised on: _____
Reviewed on: _____

3046 Animals at Schools

Animals are not allowed in school district buildings or on school district property without the written permission of the superintendent or his or her designee except as provided in this policy or as otherwise required by law.

I. USE OF ANIMALS FOR INSTRUCTIONAL PURPOSES

Animals that support a district program or curriculum or that are used for instructional purposes are allowed in school district buildings or on school district property with the written permission of the superintendent or building principal.

Karen Haase 5/29/20 10:59 AM

Deleted: 4

Karen Haase 5/26/20 11:12 AM

Deleted: o the extent possible, t

Karen Haase 5/22/20 3:04 PM

Deleted: possible

Karen Haase 5/26/20 11:13 AM

Deleted: and

Karen Haase 5/29/20 10:59 AM

Deleted: 5

SMSC7-02 6/17/20 11:46 AM

Deleted: ... [1]

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:48 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:43 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:55 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana, Bold

Karen Haase 5/25/20 6:58 PM

Formatted: Font:(Default) Verdana

II. SERVICE ANIMALS

The school district does not permit discrimination against individuals with disabilities, including those who require the assistance of a service animal. An individual with a disability is permitted to be accompanied by his/her service animal on school property when required by law, subject to the conditions of this policy.

Service Animal. A “service animal” is a dog that has been individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. Work or tasks **do not** include the crime deterrent effects of an animal’s presence and the provision of emotional support, well-being, comfort, or companionship. The work or tasks performed by a service animal must be directly related to the handler’s disability or necessary to mitigate a disability. Other species of animals, whether wild or domestic, trained or untrained, are not service animals for the purposes of this definition. **See also,** Miniature Horses below.

School District Inquiries. School officials **may** ask the owner or handler of an animal whether the animal is required because of a disability and what work or task the animal has been trained to do **unless** the answers to these inquiries are readily apparent. School officials **may not** ask about the nature or extent of a person’s disability and may not require documentary proof of certification or licensing as a service animal.

Procedural Requirements. The following requirements must be satisfied **before** a service animal will be allowed in school buildings or on school grounds:

Request. A person who wants to be accompanied by his/her service animal must submit a written request form to a principal or superintendent. The request form is attached to this policy. These requests must be renewed each school year or whenever a different service animal will be used. When a request to be accompanied by a service animal is submitted by, or on behalf of, a student who has an Individualized Education Program (IEP) and/or a Section 504 Plan, then the request shall be promptly referred to the student’s respective IEP Team and/or 504 Team for its consideration and/or input.

Author

Formatted: Not Highlight

Health and Vaccination. The owner or handler must have proof of current licensure from the local licensing authority including proof of the service animal's current vaccinations and immunizations required by law.

Service animals will not be allowed in school buildings or other school property until the school has approved the request.

Control. A service animal must be under the control of its handler at all times. The service animal must have a harness, backpack, vest identifying the dog as a trained service dog, leash, or other tether. If the handler is unable to use a harness, backpack, vest, leash, or other tether, because of a disability or the use of a harness, backpack, vest, leash, or other tether would interfere with the service animal's safe, effective performance of work or tasks, the use of these items is not required. However, the service animal must be otherwise under the handler's control.

Exclusion or Removal from School. A service animal may be excluded from school property and buildings if a school administrator determines that:

- (1) A handler does not have control of the service animal;
- (2) The service animal is not housebroken;
- (3) The service animal presents a direct and immediate threat to others in the school; or
- (4) The animal's presence fundamentally alters the nature of the service, program, or activity.

The handler or the student's parent or guardian shall be required to remove the service animal from school premises immediately upon such a determination. If the service animal is removed, the individual with a disability shall be provided with the opportunity to participate in the service, program, or activity without the service animal.

Allergic Reactions. If any student or school employee assigned to a classroom or mode of transportation in which a service animal is permitted suffers an allergic reaction to the service animal, the person having custody and control of the animal will be required to remove the animal to a different location designated by an administrator. The school will arrange a meeting between school personnel, the individual with the disability, and the parents or guardian(s) of the person with the disability if that person is a student to develop an alternate plan.

Supervision and Care of Service Animals. The owner or handler of a service animal is solely responsible for the supervision and care of the animal, including any feeding, exercising, and clean up while the animal is in a school building or on school property. The student's parent or guardian is responsible for providing for the supervision and the care of the animal in the event that his or her student is not able to do so. The school district is not responsible for providing any care, supervision, or assistance for a service animal.

Extra Charges. The owner or handler of a service animal will not be required to pay an admission fee or a charge for the animal to attend events for which a fee is charged.

Damage to School Property and Injuries. The owner or handler of a service animal is solely responsible and liable for any damage to school property or injury to personnel, students, or others caused by the animal.

Miniature Horses. Requests to permit the use of a miniature horse by an individual with a disability will be addressed on a case-by-case basis by considering the following factors:

- (1) The type, size, and weight of the miniature horse and whether the facility can accommodate these features;
- (2) Whether the handler has sufficient control of the miniature horse;
- (3) Whether the miniature horse is housebroken; and
- (4) Whether the miniature horse's presence in a specific facility compromises legitimate safety requirements that are necessary for safe operation.

All additional requirements outlined in this policy, which apply to service animals, shall apply to miniature horses.

Service Animal in Training. This policy shall also be applicable to service animals in training that are accompanied by a bona fide trainer.

Denial of Access and Grievance. If a school official denies a request for access of a service animal, the disabled individual or parent or guardian can file a written grievance with the school's Section 504 Coordinator.

III. THERAPY ANIMALS

The school district supports the use of therapy animals by teachers or other qualified school personnel ("Owner") for the benefit of its students subject to the conditions of this policy.

Therapy Animal. A "therapy animal" is an animal that has been individually trained and certified to work with its Owner to provide emotional support, well-being, comfort, or companionship to school district students. Therapy animals are not "service animals" as that term is used in the American with Disabilities Act. The animal must be well behaved and have a temperament that is suitable for interaction with students and others in a public school. Therapy animals are personal property of the Owner and are not owned by the school district.

Therapy Animal Standards and Procedures. The following requirements must be satisfied ***before*** a therapy animal will be allowed in school buildings or on school grounds:

Request. An Owner who wants to bring a therapy animal to school must submit a written request form to a principal or superintendent. The request form is attached to this policy. The request must be renewed each school year or whenever a different therapy animal will be used. When a request to bring a therapy animal to school is submitted by, or on behalf of, a student who has an Individualized Education Program (IEP) and/or a Section 504 Plan, then the request shall be promptly referred to the student's respective IEP Team and/or 504 Team for its consideration and/or input.

Training and Certification. The Owner must submit training and certification information requested by the Superintendent or his or her designee. Any certification required by the school district must remain current at all times.

Health and Vaccination. The therapy animal must be clean, well groomed, in good health, house broken, and immunized against diseases common to such animals. The Owner must submit proof of current required licensure from the local licensing authority and proof of the therapy animal's current

vaccinations and immunizations from a licensed veterinarian, if applicable.

Control. A therapy animal must be under the control of the Owner at all times.

Identification. The therapy animal must have appropriate identification identifying it as a therapy animal.

No Disruption. The therapy animal must not disrupt the educational process by any of its behaviors.

Health and Safety. The therapy animal must not pose a health and safety risk to any student, employee, or other person at school.

Supervision and Care of Therapy Animals. The Owner is solely responsible for the supervision and care of the therapy animal, including any feeding, exercising, and clean up while the animal is in a school building or on school property. The school district is not responsible for providing any care, supervision, or assistance for a therapy animal.

Authorized Area(s). The Owner shall only allow the therapy animal to be in areas in school buildings or on school property that are authorized by school district administrators.

Insurance. The Owner must submit a copy of an insurance policy that provides liability coverage for the therapy animal while on school property.

Exclusion or Removal from School. A therapy animal may be excluded from school property and buildings if a school administrator determines that:

- (1) A handler does not have control of the therapy animal;
- (2) The therapy animal is not housebroken;
- (3) The therapy animal presents a direct and immediate threat to others in the school; or
- (4) The animal's presence otherwise interferes with the educational process.

The Owner shall be required to remove the therapy animal from school premises immediately upon such a determination.

Allergic Reactions. If any student or school employee assigned to a classroom in which a therapy animal is permitted suffers an allergic reaction to the therapy animal, the Owner of the animal will be required to remove the animal to a different location designated by an administrator.

Damages to School Property and Injuries. The Owner of a therapy animal is solely responsible and liable for any damage to school property or injury to personnel, students, or others caused by the therapy animal.

Other Therapy Animals. Therapy animals (1) owned by students, patrons, or other non-school employees or (2) owned by school employees for their own benefit will not be allowed on school grounds or school property except as otherwise required by law.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

SERVICE ANIMAL REQUEST FORM

Date _____ School Building _____

Name of Assisted Person: _____

Assisted person is ☐ Staff ☐ Student ☐ Other

Name of Animal Owner (if different than above): _____

Name of Animal Handler (if different than above): _____

Name of Animal: _____ Type of Animal: ☐ Dog ☐ Miniature Horse

If it is not readily apparent that the animal qualifies as a "service animal," please answer the following questions:

Is use of the animal required because of a disability? ☐ Yes ☐ No

What work or task has the service animal been trained to perform?

I have read and understand the school district's Animals Policy. I will abide by the terms of that Policy. I understand that if the service animal is out of control, not housebroken, presents a direct and immediate threat to others in the school, or fundamentally alters the nature of the service, program, or activity that cannot be eliminated by reasonable modifications, the school district may exclude or remove my service animal from its property.

I agree to be responsible for any damage to school property or injury to personnel, students, or others caused by the animal. I agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the school district from and against any and all claims, actions, suits, judgments and demands brought by any party arising on account of, or in connection with, any activity of or damage caused by my service animal.

Owner Signature _____ Date

Parent/Guardian Signature _____ Date

Assisted Person's Signature _____ Date

Handler Signature _____ Date

Please attach the following documentation:

☐ **Proof of current licensure**

☐ **Proof of current vaccinations and immunizations from a licensed veterinarian (as required by state and local law)**

APPROVAL

School Official Signature _____ Date

Title: _____

Note: This form is valid until the end of the current school year. It must be renewed prior to the start of each subsequent school year or whenever a different service animal will be used.

THERAPY ANIMAL REQUEST FORM

Date _____ School Building _____

Employee/Owner _____

Type of Animal: _____ Name of Animal: _____

Is the animal certified? ☐ Yes ☐ No

Has the animal received any training or certification (such as AKC Canine Good Citizen)? ☐ Yes ☐ No

If yes, please provide details (attach any certifications or proof of training):

Is the animal current on all required immunizations and vaccinations?
☐ Yes ☐ No

Does the animal have an ID that indicates it is a therapy animal?
☐ Yes ☐ No

I have attached the following documentation:

- ☐ Proof of current licensure
- ☐ Proof of current vaccinations and immunizations from a licensed veterinarian
- ☐ Declaration page indicating adequate liability insurance coverage

I have read and understand the school district's Animal Policy. I will abide by the terms of that Policy. I understand that if the therapy animal is out of control, not housebroken, presents a threat to others in the school, or otherwise interferes with the educational process, the school district may exclude or remove my therapy animal from school district property.

I agree to be responsible for any damage to school property or injury to personnel, students, or others caused by the animal. I agree to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the school district from and against any and all claims, actions, suits, judgments and demands brought by any party arising on account of, or in connection with, any activity of or damage caused by my therapy animal.

Owner Signature _____ Date _____

APPROVAL

School Official Signature _____ Date _____

Printed Name: _____ Title: _____

Note: This form is valid until the end of the current school year. It must be renewed prior to the start of each subsequent school year or whenever a different therapy animal will be used.

4003 Drug Policy Regarding Drivers

Policy Statement. Drivers for the school district must be free from drug and alcohol abuse, and the use of illegal drugs or improper use of alcohol is prohibited. The overall goal of drug and alcohol testing is to insure a drug-free and alcohol-free transportation environment, and to reduce accidents, injuries and fatalities.

Designated Contact. The school district has designated the transportation director as the individual any driver may contact with questions about this policy or the school district's drug testing program and procedures for drivers. This individual further maintains and will provide drivers informational materials concerning the effects of

alcohol and controlled substances use on an individual's health, work, and personal life; signs and symptoms of an alcohol or a controlled substances problem (the driver's or a co-worker's); and available methods of intervening when an alcohol or controlled substances problem is suspected, including confrontation, referral to any employee assistance program and/or referral to management.

The transportation director may be contacted at (402) 643-6069

Covered Drivers. Any person who operates a commercial motor vehicle on behalf of the school district is covered by this policy and the school district's drug testing program and procedures for drivers. All covered drivers must provide the school district a signed statement certifying that he or she has received a copy of this policy and related materials.

Covered Workday. A driver is required to comply with this policy and the terms of the school district's drug testing program and procedures for drivers at all times they are assigned, or may be assigned, to perform safety-sensitive functions. This includes all time from the time a driver begins to work or is required to be in readiness to work until the time he/she is relieved from work and all responsibility for performing work. Safety-sensitive functions include: (1) all time at a school district facility or property, contractor facility or property, or on any public property, waiting to be dispatched, unless the driver has been relieved from duty by the school district; (2) all time inspecting equipment as required by state or federal law or regulation and any and all other time inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any commercial motor vehicle; (3) all time spent at the driving controls of a commercial motor vehicle in operation; (4) all time, other than driving time, in or upon any commercial motor vehicle; (5) all time loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising, or assisting in the loading or unloading, attending a vehicle being loaded or unloaded, remaining in readiness to operate the vehicle, or in giving or receiving receipts for shipments loaded or unloaded; and (6) all time repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled vehicle.

Prohibited Conduct. No driver shall: (1) report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while having an alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater; (2) use alcohol while performing safety-sensitive functions; (3) perform safety-sensitive functions within four hours after using alcohol; or (4) refuse to submit to a pre-employment controlled substance, a post-accident

alcohol or controlled substance test, a random alcohol or controlled substances test, a reasonable suspicion alcohol or controlled substance test, a return-to-duty alcohol or controlled substances test, or a follow-up alcohol or controlled substance test required under state or federal law or this policy. No driver required to take a post-accident alcohol test shall use alcohol for eight hours following the accident, or until he/she undergoes a post-accident alcohol test, whichever occurs first.

No driver shall: (1) report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety sensitive functions when the driver uses any drug or substance identified in 31 CFR 1308.11 Schedule 1; (2) report for duty or remain on duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions when the driver uses any non-Schedule I drug or substance that is identified in the other Schedules in 21 CFR part 1308 except when the use is pursuant to the instructions of a licensed medical practitioner who is familiar with the driver's medical history and has advised the driver that the substance will not adversely affect the driver's ability to safely operate a commercial motor vehicle; or (3) report for duty, remain on duty or perform a safety-sensitive function, if the driver tests positive or has adulterated or substituted a test specimen for controlled substances.

Types of Testing. Pursuant to regulations promulgated by the Department of Transportation (DOT), the district has implemented four types of testing: (1) pre-employment testing, (2) reasonable cause testing, (3) post-accident testing and (4) random testing.

Refusal to Submit to Testing. A driver shall not refuse to submit to testing. A driver will be considered to have refused to submit to testing if the driver fails to provide a sample or specimen necessary for testing upon a lawful request, consistent with the required testing protocols. The refusal to submit to the testing used by the district will be grounds for refusal to hire driver applicants and to terminate the employment of existing drivers.

Consequences for Violations. Any driver who becomes unqualified on the basis of violation of the terms of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action which may include termination of the driver's employment, and shall include the immediate removal from safety-sensitive functions in compliance with federal law. No driver tested pursuant to this policy and the school district's drug testing program and procedures who is found to have an alcohol concentration of 0.02 or greater but less than 0.04 shall perform or continue to perform

safety-sensitive functions until the start of the driver's next regularly scheduled duty period, but not less than 24 hours following administration of the test.

Return to Duty Process. A driver who has violated this policy or the school district drug testing program and procedures cannot again perform any safety-sensitive functions until and unless the employee completes the return-to-duty process, including the substance-abuse professional's (SAP) evaluation, referral, and recommended education or treatment. The school district will provide employees the relevant contact information for available and acceptable SAPs as necessary, but the school district is not required under the law to provide a SAP evaluation or any subsequent recommended education or treatment for a driver. Any driver completing the return-to-duty process must complete a return-to-duty test and test negatively.

Disqualification. Any applicant who tests positive for the presence of the following drugs is medically unqualified to drive and will not be considered for the position of driver: (1) marijuana, (2) cocaine, (3) opiates, (4) amphetamines, or (5) phencyclidine (PCP). Any district driver who tests positive shall be medically unqualified and removed from service immediately.

Pre-employment Testing. All applicants for employment must submit to drug and alcohol tests as a condition of being considered for employment.

Reasonable Cause Testing. The district shall have reasonable cause to require a driver to submit to drug testing when a driver manifests physical or physiological symptoms or reactions commonly attributed to the use of controlled substances or alcohol.

Post-Accident Testing. A driver who has been involved in a reportable accident must submit to drug and alcohol testing as soon as possible. A reportable accident includes any accident in which there is a fatality, a person is injured and must be treated away from the accident site, the driver receives a citation for a moving violation, or a vehicle is towed from the scene. The driver must notify the district immediately regarding any reportable accident.

Serious Injury to the Driver. If a driver is so seriously injured that he or she cannot submit to testing at or immediately after the time of the accident, the driver must provide the necessary authorization for the district to obtain hospital reports or other documents that would

Jordan Johnson 5/24/20 7:15 PM

Deleted: .

indicate whether there were controlled substances or alcohol in the driver's system.

Random Testing. All drivers will be subject to unannounced random testing for drugs and alcohol. The district or its agents will periodically select drivers at random for testing. A district official will notify a driver when his or her name has been selected and will instruct the driver to report immediately for testing. By its very nature, random selection may result in one driver being tested more than once in a 12-month period, while another driver may not be selected at all during the same 12 months.

Frequency of Random Testing. Under DOT regulations, the district must test at least 50 percent of its average number of driver positions for drugs and 25 percent of its average number of driver positions for alcohol each year. The tests must be unannounced and spread evenly throughout the year. DOT regulations also require that every driver selected at random must have his or her name placed back in the random pool for the next selection period.

Testing Procedure. All urine and blood specimens collected under the policy will be submitted to an approved laboratory for testing. Specimens that initially test positive for drugs will be subjected to a subsequent confirmation test before being reported by the laboratory as positive. All such specimens collected and submitted will be maintained securely to safeguard the validity of the test results and maintain the integrity of the testing process while ensuring the results are attributed to the correct driver.

Medical Resource Officer. All laboratory test results will be reported by the laboratory to a medical review officer (MRO) designated by the district. Negative test results will be reported as such by the MRO to the district. Before reporting a positive test result to the district, the MRO will attempt to contact the driver to discuss the test result. If the MRO is unable to contact the driver directly, the MRO will contact a district official designated in advance by the district, who shall in turn contact the driver and direct the driver to contact the MRO. Upon being so directed, the driver shall contact the MRO immediately or, if after the MRO's business hours and the MRO is unavailable, at the start of the MRO's next business day. If required by DOT regulations, personal information collected and maintained pursuant to this policy shall be reported to the Clearinghouse by the MRO in the event of: (1) a verified positive, adulterated, or substituted drug test result; (2) an alcohol confirmation test with a concentration of 0.04 or higher; (3) a

refusal to submit to any test required by this policy and the school district's drug testing program and procedures; (4) an employer's report of actual knowledge that a driver has used alcohol or controlled substances based on the employer's direct observation of the employee, information provided by the driver's previous employer(s), a traffic citation for driving a CMV while under the influence of alcohol or controlled substances or an employee's admission of alcohol or controlled substance use; (5) on duty alcohol use as prohibited above; (6) pre-duty alcohol use as prohibited above; (7) alcohol use following an accident as prohibited above; (8) controlled substance use as prohibited above; (9) a substance abuse professional report of the successful completion of the return-to-duty process; (10) a negative return-to-duty test; and (11) an employer's report of completion of follow-up testing.

Confidentiality. Pursuant to DOT regulations, individual test results for applicants and drivers will be released to the district and will be kept confidential unless the tested individual consents to their release or release is required by law (such as the release of information to the Clearinghouse.) Any person who has submitted to drug testing in compliance with this policy is entitled to receive the results of such testing upon timely written request.

Retesting. An individual who tested positive for the presence of drugs may request that the original sample be retested. The request for a retest must be submitted in writing on a form provided by the district within 3 working days of the district's notification to the individual that he or she has a positive test result. The individual making the request must pay all costs associated with the retest and transfer of the sample to another laboratory before the retest will be performed.

Adopted on: _____
Revised on: _____
Reviewed on: _____

4050

Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect

Because of their daily contact with school-age children, educators and other school employees are in a unique position to identify abused and/or neglected children. Nebraska law defines child abuse or neglect as

knowingly, intentionally, or negligently causing or permitting a minor child to be (1) placed in a situation that endangers his or her life or physical or mental health; (2) cruelly confined or cruelly punished; (3) deprived of necessary food, clothing, shelter or care; (4) left unattended in a motor vehicle, if such child is six years of age or younger; (5) sexually abused; **or** (6) sexually exploited by allowing, encouraging, or forcing such person to solicit for or engage in prostitution, debauchery, public indecency, or obscene or pornographic photography, films, or depictions.

Reporting Procedure. School employees who have reasonable cause to believe that a child has been subjected to child abuse or neglect or observe a child being subjected to conditions or circumstances which reasonably would result in child abuse or neglect will report the suspected abuse or neglect according to the following procedure.

1. Any school employee who has reasonable cause to believe that a child has been abused or neglected shall report the suspicion to the building principal immediately. Employees shall also personally report or cause a report to be made to local law enforcement or to the Department of Health and Human Services.
2. When the principal makes a report of suspected child abuse or neglect, he/she shall inform the employee(s) who made the initial report.
3. Nothing in the paragraph above shall hinder a school employee from fulfilling his/her/their obligation to report suspected abuse or neglect if he, she or they have reasonable cause to believe that a child has been abused or neglected.
4. Any doubt or question in reporting such cases shall be resolved in the favor of reporting the suspected abuse or neglect. Consultation between the administrator and school employee is encouraged, keeping in mind that prompt reporting is essential.

Contents of the Report. The report to authorities shall contain the following information to the extent it is available: (1) name and position of reporting person; (2) name, address, and age of abused or neglected person; (3) address of the person or persons having custody of the abused or neglected person; (4) the nature and extent of the abuse or neglect, or the conditions and circumstances which would reasonably result in such

SMSC7-02 7/7/20 2:17 PM

Formatted: Font:Bold

SMSC7-02 7/7/20 2:31 PM

Deleted: The principal and the school nurse and/or the school guidance counselor shall, whenever possible, investigate the concern within 24 hours of receiving the initial report. The school staff shall endeavor to conduct this investigation in a manner that does not interfere with any current or future investigation by law enforcement. When the principal determines that a report should be made through the district, he or she shall make a report to the office of social services or law enforcement. The principal shall inform the employee(s) who made the initial report whether he or she has made a report to the office of social services or law enforcement. If no such report has been made, the employee(s) shall file such a report if he, she or they have reasonable cause to believe that a child has been abused or neglected.

SMSC7-02 7/7/20 2:16 PM

Deleted: 3

abuse or neglect; and (5) any other information that may be useful in establishing the identity of the persons involved and cause of the abuse or neglect.

Legal Immunity. Nebraska statutes give legal immunity from any civil or criminal liability to any person who makes a good faith report of child abuse or neglect or participates in a judicial proceeding resulting from such a report.

Adopted on: October 14, 2013

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

5016 Student Records

The school district shall manage student records and reports as is necessary for effective administration and in compliance with law. In general "student records" shall not include transitory communications such as e-mail, text messages, handwritten communication between school and home, and the like, and these items will not generally be maintained by the district. "Student records" also shall not include any records created and maintained by the district's law enforcement unit for a law enforcement purpose.

For purposes of the district's compliance with state and federal law, the district "maintains" student records which are printed and kept in the student's physical file or which school district staff have intentionally saved within the official school district digital student information system that specifically identifies the student for whom those records are maintained. The school district may also use learning management systems, which deliver and manage instructional content. The school district maintains student records within its student information system but not in its learning management system. The official school district student information system is Powerschool.

Students or their parents, guardians, teachers, counselors, or school administrators shall have access to the school's files or records

maintained concerning themselves or their students. For purposes of this policy, "teachers" include paraeducators and volunteers who are providing educational services to a student on behalf of the School District. A school official may access, maintain, and use education records containing personally identifiable information (PII) when he or she has a legitimate educational interest in such. "School official" includes any agent, volunteer, or contractor performing an institutional service or function for which the school would otherwise use its own employees and who is under the school district's direct control with respect to their access to, maintenance of, and use of PII from student records. For example, a school official may include, but would not be limited to, a teacher or other educator, administrator, supervisor, instructor, or support staff member (including health or medical staff and law enforcement unit personnel); school board member; volunteer; contractor or consultant who, while not employed by the school, performs an institutional service or function for which the school would otherwise use its own employees and who is under the direct control of the school with respect to the use and maintenance of PII from education records, such as an attorney, representative of the district's insurance providers, auditor, medical consultant, therapist, or a third-party website operator who has contracted with the school district or its agent to offer online programs for the benefit of students and/or the district; members of law enforcement acting on behalf of the school district; a parent or student volunteering to serve on an official committee, such as a disciplinary or grievance committee; or a parent, student, or other volunteer assisting another school official in performing his or her tasks. A school official typically has a "legitimate educational interest" if the official needs to review an education record in order to fulfill a school-related professional, contractual, statutory, or regulatory responsibility.

Jordan Johnson 5/25/20 11:34 AM

Deleted: s

All disciplinary material shall be removed and destroyed upon the pupil's graduation or after the pupil's continuous absence from the school for a period of three years, and after authorization is given by the State Records Board pursuant to state law. Upon request, the school district will disclose education records without consent to officials of another school district in which a student seeks or intends to enroll.

Jordan Johnson 5/25/20 11:31 AM

Deleted: attorneys; members of law enforcement acting on behalf of the school district; representatives of insurance providers that provide coverage to the school district; and third-party website operators who have contracted with the school district or its agent to offer online programs for the benefit of students and the distric

Outside agencies such as physicians, probation officers, psychologists, child guidance clinics, and other agencies concerned with child welfare who are working directly with a child may have access to information pertaining to that child with written parental consent or upon issuance of a valid court order.

Jordan Johnson 5/25/20 11:31 AM

Deleted: t.

The school district shall share student data, records, and information with school districts, educational service units, learning communities, and the State Department of Education to the fullest extent practicable unless otherwise prohibited by law. This includes sharing information with the Department of Education necessary to comply with the requirement of state law that all third-year high school students take a college entrance exam. Any redisclosure of information related to the administration of this exam shall be governed by the agreement between the Nebraska Department of Education and the third-party testing company.

Each year, the school district will notify parents and guardians of their rights under this policy and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

5035 Student Discipline

Administrative and teaching personnel may take actions regarding student behavior, other than those specifically provided in this policy and the Student Discipline Act, which are reasonably necessary to aid the student, further school purposes, or prevent interference with the educational process. Such actions may include, but need not be limited to, counseling of students, parent conferences, referral to restorative justice practices or services, rearrangement of schedules, requirements that a student remain in school after regular hours to do additional work, restriction of extracurricular activity, or requirements that a student receive counseling, psychological evaluation, or psychiatric evaluation upon the written consent of a parent or guardian to such counseling or evaluation. Disciplinary consequences may also include in-school suspension, Saturday School, and any other consequence authorized by law. District administrators may develop building-specific protocols for the imposition of student discipline.

In this policy, references to "Principal" shall include building principals, the principal's designee, or other appropriate school district administrators.

Any statement, notice, recommendation, determination, or similar action specified in this policy shall be effectively given at the time written evidence thereof is delivered personally to or upon receipt of certified or registered mail or upon actual knowledge by a student or his or her parent or guardian.

Any student who is suspended or expelled from school pursuant to this policy may not participate in any school activity during the duration of that exclusion including adjacent school holidays and weekends. The student activity eligibility of a student who is mandatorily reassigned shall be determined on a case-by-case basis by the principal of the building to which the student is reassigned.

Short-Term Suspension

The Principal may exclude students from school or any school function for a period of up to five school days (short-term suspension) on the following grounds:

1. Conduct constituting grounds for expulsion as hereinafter set forth; or,
2. Other violations of rules and standards of behavior adopted by the Board of Education or the administrative or teaching staff of the school, that occur on or off school grounds, if such conduct interferes with school purposes or there is a connection between such conduct and school.

The following process applies to short-term suspension:

1. The Principal shall make a reasonable investigation of the facts and circumstances. Short-term suspension shall be imposed only after a determination that the suspension is necessary to help any student, to further school purposes, or to prevent an interference with school purposes.
2. Prior to commencement of the short-term suspension, the student will be given oral or written notice of the charges against the student. The student will be advised of what he or she is accused of having done, be given an explanation of the evidence the authorities have, and be given an opportunity to explain the student's version of the facts.

3. Within 24 hours or such additional time as is reasonably necessary following the suspension, the Principal will send a written statement to the student, and the student's parent or guardian, describing the student's conduct, misconduct or violation of the rule or standard and the reasons for the action taken. An opportunity will be given to the student, and the student's parent or guardian, to have a conference with the Principal ordering the short-term suspension before or at the time the student returns to school. The Principal shall determine who, in addition to the parent or guardian, is to attend the conference.
4. Students who are short-term suspended **will** be given the opportunity to complete classwork, including but not limited to examinations, under the following conditions: by working with the building principal to work out a plan for classwork.

Emergency Exclusion

Students may be emergency excluded from school pursuant to the board's separate policy on emergency exclusion or state law.

Weapons and/or Firearms

Students may be disciplined for the possession of weapons and/or firearms pursuant to the board's separate policy on weapons and firearms or state law.

Long-Term Suspension

Students may be excluded by the Principal from school or any school function for a period of more than five school days but less than twenty school days (long-term suspension) for any conduct constituting grounds for expulsion as hereinafter set forth. The process for long-term suspension is set forth below.

Expulsion

1. **Meaning of Expulsion.** Expulsion means exclusion from attendance in all schools, grounds and activities of or within the system for a period not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect unless the misconduct occurred (a) within ten school days prior to the end of the first semester, in which case the expulsion shall remain in effect through the second

semester, or (b) within ten school days prior to the end of the second semester, in which case the expulsion shall remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the following school year, or (c) unless the expulsion is for conduct specified in these rules or in law as permitting or requiring a longer removal, in which case the expulsion shall remain in effect for the period specified therein. Such action may be modified or terminated by the school district at any time during the expulsion period.

2. **Summer Review.** Any expulsion that will remain in effect during the first semester of the following school year will be automatically scheduled for review before the beginning of the school year. The review will be conducted by the hearing officer who conducted the initial expulsion hearing, or a hearing officer appointed by the Superintendent in the event no hearing was previously held or the initial hearing officer is no longer available or willing to serve, after the hearing officer has given notice of the review to the student and the student's parent or guardian. This review shall be limited to newly discovered evidence or evidence of changes in the student's circumstances occurring since the original hearing. This review may lead to a recommendation by the hearing officer that the student be readmitted for the upcoming school year. If the school board or board of education or a committee of such board took the final action to expel the student, the student may be readmitted only by action of the board. Otherwise the student may be readmitted by action of the Superintendent.
3. **Suspension of Enforcement of an Expulsion:** Enforcement of an expulsion action may be suspended (i.e., "stayed") for a period of not more than one full semester in addition to the balance of the semester in which the expulsion takes effect, and as a condition of such suspended action, the student may be assigned to a school, class, or program/plan and to such other consequences which the school district deems appropriate.
4. **Alternative School or Pre-expulsion Procedures.** The school shall either provide an alternative school, class or educational program for expelled students or shall follow the pre-expulsion procedures outlined in NEB. REV. STAT. 79-266.

Grounds for Long-Term Suspension, Expulsion or Mandatory Reassignment:

The following conduct constitutes grounds for long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, subject to the procedural provisions of the Student Discipline Act, NEB. REV. STAT. § 79-254 through 79-296, when such activity occurs on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event:

1. Use of violence, force, coercion, threat, intimidation, or similar conduct in a manner that constitutes a substantial interference with school purposes;
2. Willfully causing or attempting to cause substantial damage to property, stealing or attempting to steal property of substantial value, or repeated damage or theft involving property;
3. Causing or attempting to cause personal injury to a school employee, to a school volunteer, or to any student. Personal injury caused by accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the reasonable belief that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not constitute a violation of this subdivision;
4. Threatening or intimidating any student for the purpose of or with the intent of obtaining money or anything of value from such student;
5. Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting any object or material that is ordinarily or generally considered a weapon (see *also board policy on weapons and firearms*);
6. Engaging in the unlawful possession, selling, dispensing, or use of a controlled substance or an imitation controlled substance, as defined in section 28-401, a substance represented to be a controlled substance, or alcoholic liquor as defined in section 53-103.02 or being under the influence of a controlled substance or alcoholic liquor (*note: the term "under the influence" for school purposes has a less strict meaning than it does under criminal law; for school purposes, the term means any level of impairment and includes even the odor of alcohol on the breath or person of a student; also, it includes being impaired by reason of the abuse of any material used as a stimulant*);
7. Public indecency as defined in section 28-806, except that this prohibition shall apply only to students at least twelve years of age but less than nineteen years of age;
8. Engaging in bullying as defined in section 79-2,137 and in these policies;

9. Sexually assaulting or attempting to sexually assault any person if a complaint has been filed by a prosecutor in a court of competent jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually assaulted or attempted to sexually assault any person, including sexual assaults or attempted sexual assaults which occur off school grounds not at a school function, activity, or event. For purposes of this subdivision, sexual assault means sexual assault in the first degree as defined in section 28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in section 28-320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in section 28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as defined in section 28-319.01, as such sections now provide or may hereafter from time to time be amended;
10. Engaging in any other activity forbidden by the laws of the State of Nebraska which activity constitutes a danger to other students or interferes with school purposes; or
11. A repeated violation of any of the following rules if such violations constitute a substantial interference with school purposes:
 - a. The use of language, written or oral, or conduct, including gestures, which is profane or abusive to students or staff members. Profane or abusive language or conduct includes, but is not limited to, that which is commonly understood and intended to be derogatory toward a group or individual based upon race, gender, national origin, or religion;
 - b. Dressing or grooming in a manner which violates the school district's dress code and/or is dangerous to the student's health and safety, a danger to the health and safety of others, or which is disruptive, distracting or indecent to the extent that it interferes with the learning and educational process;
 - c. Violating school bus rules as set by the school district or district staff;
 - d. Possessing, using, selling, or dispensing tobacco, drug paraphernalia, an electronic nicotine delivery system, or a tobacco imitation substance or packaging, regardless of form, including cigars, cigarettes, chewing tobacco, and any other form of tobacco, tobacco derivative product or imitation or electronic cigarettes, vapor pens, etc.;
 - e. Possessing, using, selling, or dispensing any drug paraphernalia or imitation of a controlled substance regardless of whether the actual substance possessed is a controlled substance by Nebraska law;

- f. Possession of pornography;
- g. Sexting or the possession of sexting images (a combination of sex and texting - the act of sending sexually explicit messages or photos electronically);
- h. Engaging in hazing, defined as any activity expected of someone joining a group, team, or activity that humiliates, degrades or risks emotional and/or physical harm, regardless of the person's willingness to participate. Hazing activities are generally considered to be: physically abusive, hazardous, and/or sexually violating and include but are not limited to the following: personal servitude; sleep deprivation and restrictions on personal hygiene; yelling, swearing and insulting new members/rookies; being forced to wear embarrassing or humiliating attire in public; consumption of vile substances or smearing of such on one's skin; branding; physical beatings; binge drinking and drinking games; sexual simulation and sexual assault;
- i. Bullying which shall include cyberbullying, defined as the use of the internet, including but not limited to social networking sites such as Facebook, cell phones or other devices to send, post or text message images and material intended to hurt or embarrass another person. This may include, but is not limited to; continuing to send e-mail to someone who has said they want no further contact with the sender; sending or posting threats, sexual remarks or pejorative labels (i.e., hate speech); ganging up on victims by making them the subject of ridicule in forums, and posting false statements as fact intended to humiliate the victim; disclosure of personal data, such as the victim's real name, address, or school at websites or forums; posing as the identity of the victim for the purpose of publishing material in their name that defames or ridicules them; sending threatening and harassing text, instant messages or emails to the victims; and posting or sending rumors or gossip to instigate others to dislike and gang up on the target;
- j. Violation of the district's computer acceptable computer use policy are subject to discipline, up to and including expulsion;
- k. Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting any object or material that is ordinarily or generally considered a simulated or "look-a-like" weapon;
- l. Using any object to simulate possession of a weapon;

Steve Williams 5/25/20 5:35 PM

Deleted: and

- m. Knowingly making a false statement or knowingly submitting false information during the Title IX grievance process or any other school investigation or making a materially false statement in bad faith in the course of a Title IX grievance proceeding or any other school investigation; and
- n. Any other violation of a rule or regulation established by a school district staff member pursuant to authority delegated by the board.

Due Process Afforded to Students Facing Long-term Suspension or Expulsion

The following procedures shall be followed regarding any long-term suspension, expulsion or mandatory reassignment

1. On the date of the decision to discipline, the Principal shall file with the Superintendent a written charge and a summary of the evidence supporting such charge.
2. The Principal shall serve the student and the student's parents or guardian with a written notice by registered or certified mail or personal service within two school days of the date of the decision to recommend long-term suspension or expulsion. The notice shall include the following:
 - a. The rule or standard of conduct allegedly violated and the acts of the student alleged to constitute a cause for long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, including a summary of the evidence to be presented against the student;
 - b. The penalty, if any, which the principal has recommended in the charge and any other penalty to which the student may be subject;
 - c. A statement that, before long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment for disciplinary purposes can be invoked, the student has a right to a hearing, upon request, on the specified charges;
 - d. A description of the hearing procedures provided by the act, along with procedures for appealing any decision rendered at the hearing;

- e. A statement that the principal, legal counsel for the school, the student, the student's parent, or the student's representative or guardian has the right (i) to examine the student's academic and disciplinary records and any affidavits to be used at the hearing concerning the alleged misconduct and (ii) to know the identity of the witnesses to appear at the hearing and the substance of their testimony; and
 - f. A form on which the student, the student's parent, or the student's guardian may request a hearing, to be signed by such parties and delivered to the principal or superintendent in person or by registered or certified mail.
- 3. When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment is filed with the superintendent, the student may be suspended by the principal until the date the long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment takes effect if no hearing is requested or, if a hearing is requested, the date the hearing examiner makes the report of his or her findings and a recommendation of the action to be taken to the superintendent, if the principal determines that the student must be suspended immediately to prevent or substantially reduce the risk of (a) interference with an educational function or school purpose or (b) a personal injury to the student himself or herself, other students, school employees, or school volunteers.
 - 4. Nothing in this policy shall preclude the student, student's parents, guardian or representative from discussing and settling the matter with appropriate school personnel prior to the hearing stage.
 - 5. If a hearing is requested within five days after receipt of the notice, the Superintendent shall appoint a hearing officer who shall follow the "hearing procedures" outlined below.
 - 6. If a hearing is requested more than five school days following the receipt of the written notice, but not more than thirty calendar days after receipt, the Superintendent shall appoint a hearing officer who shall follow the "hearing procedures" outlined below, except that the time constraints set forth may differ as provided by law and this policy. The student shall be entitled to

a hearing but the consequence imposed may continue in effect pending final determination.

7. If a request for hearing is not received within thirty calendar days following the mailing or delivery of the written notice, the student shall not be entitled to a hearing.

In the event a hearing is requested, the hearing, hearing procedures, the student's rights and any appeals or judicial review permitted by law shall be governed by the applicable provisions of the Nebraska Student Discipline Act (NEB. REV. STAT. § 79-254 to 79-294). The school district will provide parents with copies of the relevant statutes upon request.

Reporting Requirement to Law Enforcement

Violations of this section will result in a report to law enforcement if:

1. The violation includes possession of a firearm;
2. The violation results in child abuse;
3. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that the administration believes cannot be adequately addressed solely by discipline from the school district;
4. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that endangers the health and welfare of staff or students;
5. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that interferes with school purposes;
6. The report is required or requested by law enforcement or the county attorney.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

5041

Student Government

Students are encouraged to formulate and participate in elective and representative student government activities. The organization, operation and scope of the student government shall be administered by the superintendent or designee.

~~Each year one senior will be selected by the high school principal, with help from teachers, to represent students as a student board of education member.~~

Each year one senior will be selected by the high school principal, with help from

teachers, to represent students as a student board of education member.

Each year, five seniors are elected to the Bluejay Leadership Team by the high school student body. One senior is then elected by the Bluejay Leadership Team to serve as president. The president also serves as the student representative to the Board of Education.

The purpose of adding a student board of education member:

1. To increase leadership opportunities for all students.
2. To provide student input and share common concerns and ideas.
3. To advise the Superintendent and/or the board of education on matters of concern related to student rights and responsibilities and/or decision on Board Policies which may be of interest to students.

The Board of Education of Seward Public Schools understands the importance of receiving input or insight regarding matters that are related to students.

1. The student board member shall be a non-voting position.
2. The student member may attend all open meetings of the Board and be eligible to participate in discussion, but shall be excluded from executive sessions. The student member will not participate in any personnel discussion, including evaluations.
3. The term shall be for one year, beginning September 1st following his or her selection and ending at the first board meeting in May.
4. This student member must be enrolled in Seward Public Schools for the full school year as a full-time high school student. The candidates will make application in their junior year and serve their term in their senior year.
5. The student board member is not liable for any act of the Board.
6. A student board member may be removed by a 2/3rds vote of the Board for just cause.
7. The selected student board member shall be provided an orientation to the School Board by the Superintendent of Schools.

Adopted on: June 14, 2010

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

5054 Student Bullying

Definition of Bullying. Nebraska statute defines bullying as "an ongoing pattern of physical, verbal or electronic abuse." The Centers

Author

Moved down [4]: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention defines bullying as "any unwanted aggressive behavior(s) by another youth or group of youths who are not siblings or current dating partners that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated."

Author

Moved (insertion) [4]

for Disease Control and Prevention defines bullying as “any unwanted aggressive behavior(s) by another youth or group of youths who are not siblings or current dating partners that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated.” The District’s administrators will consider these definitions when determining whether any specific situation constitutes bullying. These definitions include both in-person and cyberbullying behaviors.

Author

Deleted: are authorized to use both of these definitions to determine

Author

Deleted: Both of t

Bullying Prohibited. Students are prohibited from engaging in any form of bullying behavior.

Reporting Bullying. Students who experience or observe bullying behavior must immediately report what happened to a teacher or administrator. Students may always confer with their parents or guardians about bullying they experience or witness, but the students must also ultimately report the situation to a teacher or administrator.

Author

Deleted: should

Bullying Investigations. School district staff will investigate allegations of bullying using the same practices and procedures that the district observes for student disciplinary matters. In no circumstance will school district staff be deliberately indifferent to allegations of bullying.

Author

Deleted: other

Author

Formatted: Font:Not Bold

Disciplinary Consequences. The disciplinary consequences for bullying behavior will depend on the frequency, duration, severity and effect of the behavior.

A student who engages in bullying behavior on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose by a school employee or his or her designee, or at school-sponsored activities or school-sponsored athletic events may be subject to disciplinary consequences including but not limited to long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment.

Without limiting the foregoing, a student who engages in bullying behavior that materially and substantially interferes with or disrupts the educational environment, the district’s day-to-day operations, or the education process, regardless of where the student is at the time of engaging in the bullying behavior, may be subject to discipline to the extent permitted by law.

Bullying Based on Protected Class Status. Bullying based on protected class status is unique and may require additional

investigation. The appropriate district staff member or coordinator will promptly investigate bullying complaints that violate the district's antidiscrimination policies.

Support for Students Who Have Experienced Bullying.

Regardless of where the bullying occurred, the district will consider whether victims of bullying are suffering an adverse educational impact and, if appropriate, will refer those students to the district's student assistance team.

Bullying Prevention and Education. Students and parents are encouraged to inform teachers or administrators orally or in writing about bullying behavior or suspected bullying behavior. School employees are required to inform the administrator of all such reports. The appropriate administrator shall promptly investigate all such reports. Each building shall engage in activities which educate students about bullying, bullying prevention and digital citizenship.

Policy Review. The school district shall review this policy annually.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

**6020
Multicultural Education**

In every curriculum area and at all grades, the school district will provide programs which foster and develop an appreciation and understanding of the racial, ethnic, and cultural heritage of all students. These programs will allow students to explore the history and contributions made by various ethnic groups and will emphasize human relations, sensitivity toward all races, and the rich diversity of the population of the United States. The programs shall be implemented within the guidelines of the State Department of Education and in accordance with any other applicable laws and/or regulations.

Philosophy, Mission, and Program Goals. The district respects and appreciates cultural diversity and seeks to promote the understanding of unique cultural and ethnic heritage. The district will promote the development of a culturally responsible and responsive curriculum.

Author

Moved (insertion) [1]

The district's program will explore the attitudes, skills, and knowledge necessary to function in various cultures.

District Guides, Frameworks, or Standards. Appropriate district staff and/or committee(s) will review the district curriculum guides, frameworks, or standards to determine that they appropriately incorporate multicultural education.

Selecting Appropriate Instructional Materials. Appropriate district staff and/or committee(s) will review instructional materials and make a recommendation regarding those that are appropriate for the district's multicultural education program.

Providing Staff Development. Appropriate district staff and/or committee(s) will review the staff development provided for administrators, teachers, and support staff to determine that it includes appropriate multicultural education that is consistent with district and program goals.

Periodic Assessment. Appropriate district staff and/or committee(s) will periodically review the district's multicultural education program by reviewing the criteria in this policy to assess whether the district is adequately and appropriately incorporating multicultural education in all curriculum areas in all grades.

Annual Status Report. The superintendent ~~will~~ provide the board with a report on the status of the district's multicultural education program annually.

Adopted on: _____
Revised on: _____
Reviewed on: _____

6021

**District Criteria for Selecting Evaluators to be Used for Special
Education Evaluation and Verification and Independent
Educational Evaluations**

Author

Deleted: by

Author

Deleted: to the board

Author

Moved (insertion) [2]

Author

Deleted: shall

Author

Moved up [1]: The programs shall be implemented within the guidelines of the State Department of Education and in accordance with any other applicable laws and/or regulations.

Author

Moved up [2]: The superintendent shall provide the board with a report on the status of the district's multicultural education program annually.

The following criteria shall be used for selecting evaluators according to 92 Nebraska Administrative Code 51-006.07B:

1. Those in-state service agencies that have approved rates for the current year established by the Nebraska Department of Education. A list of service agencies with approved rates, including state agencies, individual providers, and in-state providers may be found at <https://www.education.ne.gov/sped/service-agencies/>.

SMSC7-02 7/7/20 11:22 AM
Formatted: Right: 1.25"

2. Those Nebraska providers located within 100 miles of the building of the district where the child attends when driving by ordinary public roadways.

Bobby Truhe 7/7/20 11:34 AM
Comment [1]: Insert mileage that is appropriate to your district's geographic location.

3. Evaluations must consider the educational, health, or other student records of the student provided by the district. The parents, guardians, or age-appropriate student must provide any required consent to the disclosure of these records unless disclosure is already authorized by state and federal law.

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 10:11 AM
Deleted: 1

4. Evaluations must be provided to the district, including all educational, health, student, or other records created as part of or relied upon to complete the evaluation. The parents, guardians, or age-appropriate student must provide any required consent to the disclosure of these records unless disclosure is already authorized by state and federal law.

5. Evaluations must be conducted by a provider that is authorized, available, and willing to discuss, confer, or otherwise cooperate with the district regarding the evaluation, its results, or any other information related to the evaluation. Such cooperation may include reasonable participation in, or the submission of additional reports or information to, an IEP, MDT, or SAT team. The parents, guardians, or age-appropriate student must provide any required consent to the disclosure of these records or information unless disclosure is already authorized by state and federal law.

6. Evaluations must be sufficiently comprehensive for the evaluator to submit to the district a report that specifically details whether the student should be considered eligible for special education and related services, the nature of special education and related services recommended to accommodate the student's suspected disability, and the particular facts or findings underlying the evaluator's conclusions. This report must be submitted to the district within 45 days after the conclusion of the evaluation.

7. Evaluations must meet the then-current state standards for reliability, research-based processes, and educational or professional best practices.
8. Reimbursement to any evaluator chosen in conformance with this policy shall not exceed the cost that would be charged by the school district's contracted providers for the same or substantially similar evaluation.

All special education evaluations, including those independently obtained at the district's expense, must be obtained in a manner consistent with the criteria set forth above, unless state or federal law requires waiver of one or more criteria in order to accommodate unique circumstances.

Adopted on: _____
Revised on: _____
Reviewed on: _____

6033 Restraint and Seclusion of Students

Restraint and seclusion, as defined below, are behavioral interventions. The use of such behavioral interventions must be in accordance with this policy. The following interventions do not constitute seclusion and restraint, and are not governed by this policy: voice control, limited to loud, firm commands; time-limited ignoring of specific behaviors; brief physical prompts to interrupt or prevent a specific behavior; physical interventions which a student's health care provider has indicated are medically necessary for the treatment or protection of the individual; or other similar interventions.

Definitions

Physical restraint refers to a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a student to move his or her torso, arms, legs, or head freely. The term physical restraint does not include a physical escort. Physical escort means a temporary touching or holding of the hand, wrist, arm, shoulder or back for the purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to walk to a safe location. Physical restraint does not include incidental touching that comes along with movement inside a classroom, lunch line, or other areas of the school building where maintaining order is required.

Mechanical restraint refers to the use of any device or equipment to restrict a student's freedom of movement. The term does not include devices implemented by trained school

- Jordan Johnson 5/29/20 9:39 AM
Deleted: school district. .
- Jordan Johnson 5/29/20 9:40 AM
Formatted: No bullets or numbering
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Formatted: Font:Bold
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Formatted: Centered
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: , not educational techniques. They are limited to exigent circumstances and situations that necessitate their
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: to protect the safety
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: the student, other students, staff and property. When used as safety intervention, they should be used as methods of last resort. When used as behavior intervention, they
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: used according to the terms of
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: [2]
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Deleted: does not cover interventions such as
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Moved (insertion) [5]
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Formatted: Font:Italic
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Moved (insertion) [6]
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left: 0"
- Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM
Formatted: Font:Italic

personnel, or utilized by a student that have been prescribed by an appropriate medical or related services professional and are used for the specific and approved purposes for which such devices were designed, such as:

- Adaptive devices or mechanical supports used to achieve proper body position, balance, or alignment to allow greater freedom of mobility than would be possible without the use of such devices or mechanical supports;
- Vehicle safety restraints when used as intended during the transport of a student in a moving vehicle;
- Restraints for medical immobilization; or
- Orthopedically prescribed devices that permit a student to participate in activities without risk of harm.

Chemical restraint refers to the administration of medication for the purpose of restraint, but does not include the administration of medication in accordance with the directions and prescription of a physician with the consent of the student's parent or guardian.

Seclusion refers to the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a room or area from which the student is physically prevented from leaving. It does not include a timeout, which is a behavior management technique that is part of an approved program, involves the monitored separation of the student in a non-locked setting, and is implemented for the purpose of calming.

Use of Restraint and Seclusion

The use of chemical restraint is strictly prohibited. The use of any seclusion or restraint intervention for punitive or disciplinary purposes is strictly prohibited. Similarly, the use of any technique that constitutes corporal punishment, which is the infliction of bodily pain as a penalty for disapproved behavior, is strictly prohibited. Seclusion and/or restraint shall not be used for the convenience of staff or as a substitute for an educational program. When restraint or seclusion is used to respond to the danger of harm posed by a student's behavior, the intervention shall be discontinued as soon as the danger of harm has dissipated.

The use of physical restraint, mechanical restraint, and seclusion is permitted in a manner consistent with this policy:

- as reasonably necessary where the student's behavior risks causing physical harm to self, others, and property;
- in accordance with the student's IEP, Section 504, or behavior intervention plan; or
- as otherwise prescribed, recommended, or suggested by a medical or related services provider.

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Moved (insertion) [7]

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0"

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Deleted: -

... [3]

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Formatted: Font:Italic

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Deleted: other space

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Formatted: Font:Italic

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0"

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Deleted: -

2. A room or area used for seclusion: -

... [4]

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Deleted: and which provides for continuous adult observation of the student.

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM

Deleted: 2. A room or area used for seclusion: -

... [5]

Procedures

No technique shall restrict a student's breathing, deprive a student of basic needs, or unnecessarily expose a student to physical pain or discomfort.

Seclusion shall not be used for students who are severely self-injurious or suicidal. When seclusion is utilized as permitted by this policy, the following procedures shall be followed:

- The student shall be monitored by an adult in close proximity who is able to regularly observe the student;
- The confining space shall be approved for such use, unless the use of such a space is impossible or impracticable under the circumstances;
- The confining space shall be appropriately, lighted, ventilated, and heated or cooled; and

The confining space shall be free from objects

- that unreasonably expose the student or others to harm.

If a pattern of behavior emerges, that requires or is anticipated, to require the use of restraint and/or seclusion, for the student, the appropriate educators and/or team members shall review what assessments, evaluations, supports, services, programs, or placements are appropriate in light of the student's needs and circumstances.

Recording and Reporting

Each incident of restraint or seclusion must be recorded and reported as required by the building administrators.

Training

All staff members shall be provided notice of this policy and will be trained on its contents. The Superintendent or his or her designee will identify school staff members likely to implement the restraint or seclusion interventions authorized by this policy and arrange for those individuals to receive appropriate training on the appropriate implementation of such interventions and the use of other behavioral supports and interventions.

Adopted on: _____

Revised on: _____

Reviewed on: _____

Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0"
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: is inappropriate
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: <#>D. . Time and Duratio ... [6]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [7]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: -trained key identified per ... [8]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: 3. . document observation ... [9]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Moved up [5]: ... [10]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [11]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [12]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: involves direct physical ... [13]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: <#>This policy on phy ... [14]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Moved up [7]: ... [15]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [16]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: <#>is the administr ... [19]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Moved up [6]: ... [20]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [17]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [18]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [21]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [22]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: <#>means the use c ... [23]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [24]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [25]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Deleted: <#>Given the limited ... [26]
Bobby Truhe 5/29/20 9:53 AM	Formatted ... [27]



GUIDANCE FOR REOPENING OF SCHOOLS:

American Academy of Pediatrics: [COVID-19 Planning Considerations: Guidance for School Re-entry](#)

Centers for Disease Control: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/schools.html>

MASK/FACE COVERING RELATED RESOURCES:

CDC advice on masking: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.html>

American Academy of Pediatrics - HealthChildren.org advice on masking related to children and adolescents: <https://healthychildren.org/English/health-issues/conditions/COVID-19/Pages/Cloth-Face-Coverings-for-Children-During-COVID-19.aspx>

Video for children on how and why to wear facemask (created by Melissa St. Germain, MD, board certified pediatrician and president of the Nebraska Chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics): <https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Srig59LN6ik>

3 common mask myths debunked (UNMC/Nebraska Medical Center)
<https://www.nebraskamed.com/COVID/3-common-mask-myths-debunked-by-an-infectious-diseases-expert>

Myth 1: Masks are harmful to your health (False)

The facts: There are many concerns that wearing masks may be harmful to your health, but this is not based in fact. The masks we recommend are basic procedure or fabric masks. These masks are not tight fitting and allow airflow, while still protecting others from respiratory droplets. **Just as oxygen can get in, carbon dioxide can get out. So accumulation of carbon dioxide is not a direct concern.** Although these masks are new to most in our community, they are common in the health care setting. Because of this, we have years of experience with them, and are certain they are safe to wear.

Myth 2: Masks only help if someone has symptoms (False)

The facts: Coughing and sneezing do create very high-risk situations, but talking, yelling, exercising and singing can also spread infected respiratory droplets. Any time inhaling and exhaling occur, there is potential to spread the virus. Because of this, we continue to encourage people to wear masks.

Masks help us prevent infection in several ways:

- You may have COVID-19 without knowing. We know it's possible for people to carry the virus without having symptoms. By wearing a mask, you can prevent accidental spread
- Wearing a mask also helps protect you by preventing infection. If someone else is not masked and spreads infected droplets into the air, the mask serves as a barrier that limits the likelihood that you will breathe in those droplets and become infected
- Touching your face with unwashed hands (or even gloves), could get the live virus in your eyes, mouth or nose. Depending on the amount of virus on your hands, this can cause infection. Masks provide a barrier to at least the mouth and nose

Myth 3: Masks cause self-contamination (True and false)

The facts: In truth, this is both a myth and a fact. Here's why: Masks can become contaminated on the outside surface, from the droplets mentioned above. If you do not handle your mask safely, and use great hand hygiene before and after touching it, you could contaminate yourself by getting virus off the mask, onto your hands, and into your eyes, nose or mouth. This is why washing cloth masks or replacing disposable masks is so important. **However, the idea that wearing a mask after you've been exposed to COVID-19 will increase your level of infection, is a myth.** There is no evidence to support this self-contamination claim.

5 Questions: Stanford scientists on COVID-19 mask guidelines (6/19/2020)

<http://med.stanford.edu/news/all-news/2020/06/stanford-scientists-contribute-to-who-mask-guidelines.html>

Larry Chu, MD, a professor of anesthesia and director of the AIM Laboratory &

Amy Price, PhD, a senior research scientist at Stanford's Anesthesia Informatics and Media Laboratory

1. How do cloth face coverings prevent the spread of COVID-19?

Chu: In order to answer this, it's first important to understand the concept of source control. We've learned that as many as 40% of people infected with the virus that causes COVID-19 may have no symptoms. But when they talk, cough or sneeze, they can still spread the virus to others in the form of respiratory droplets expelled into the air. Those droplets evaporate into fine particles that may linger. **The mask traps these larger droplets before they can evaporate.** So, wearing a mask regularly can prevent spreading at the source even when we don't know we are sick. But masks are just one important way to prevent this disease from spreading. Washing your hands regularly and thoroughly and keeping at least 6 feet apart from one another are still vitally important.

Price: Many people argue that cloth masks can't be effective because they can't filter out viral particles, which are extremely tiny. But, as Larry explained, most of these particles leave the mouth and nose in much larger droplets that become smaller through evaporation as they move away from the body. **Trapping droplets with the mask means not nearly as many viral particles escape.** So, when all parties in a gathering are wearing well-constructed, well-fitting masks, it provides an extra layer of safety for everyone. If two people are wearing masks, the viral particles can travel about 5 feet away from each individual. When an infected person is not wearing a mask, those particles can float through the air 30 feet or more and stay alive for up to 30 hours.

2. How do you respond to people who feel that wearing a mask can be harmful?

Price: I've heard so many misconceptions about cloth masks. **Some people think that if you wear a mask for long periods of time you will trap and breathe in excess amounts of carbon**

dioxide, which could lead to brain damage. That's just not true. A properly constructed mask provides more than enough ventilation. In fact, one way to test if your mask is well made is to try to blow out a candle through the mask from about 1 foot away. If you can't do so, your mask might be too tightly woven. **Other people feel that wearing a mask encourages people to touch their face and to loosen their adherence to other safety precautions like social distancing and hand washing. We've found the opposite. Wearing a mask reminds people to continue to be cautious. With a mask on, you actually touch your face less.** People who experience skin irritation should ensure their mask has a layer of wicking fabric, like cotton, against the face, and everyone should change the mask if it becomes wet or dirty. **Finally, it is been suggested that mask-wearing may increase the concentration of viral particles around an infected person's mouth and could increase the severity of the illness. While it is true that some studies of health care workers have suggested that the viral dose is an important determinant of infection, it's different for someone who is already infected. If you are sick, you already have the virus in your lungs; it is not going to get any worse.**

CDC:

- Covid Resources: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-nCoV/index.html>
- use of cloth face covering information: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/diy-cloth-face-coverings.html>
- Consideration for schools: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/schools-childcare/schools.html>
- Evidence for Effectiveness of Cloth Face Coverings: <https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/prevent-getting-sick/cloth-face-cover-guidance.html>

Cloth face coverings are recommended as a simple barrier to help prevent respiratory droplets from traveling into the air and onto other people when the person wearing the cloth face covering coughs, sneezes, talks, or raises their voice. This is called source control. This recommendation is based on what we know about the role respiratory droplets play in the spread of the virus that causes COVID-19, paired with emerging evidence from clinical and laboratory studies that shows **cloth face coverings reduce the spray of droplets when worn over the nose and mouth.** COVID-19 spreads mainly among people who are in close contact with one another (within about 6 feet), so the use of cloth face coverings is particularly important in settings where people are close to each other or where social distancing is difficult to maintain.

World Health Organization (WHO)

- when and how to use masks: <https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/when-and-how-to-use-masks>
- Myth Busters section: <https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/advice-for-public/myth-busters>

Questions or need additional resources?

Email Nebraska Chapter AAP at director@nebraska-aap.org